
 
 

Policy and Resources Committee 
 

Date: Monday, 27 June 2022 
Time: 
 

6.00 p.m. 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Dan Sharples 
Tel: 0151 666 3791 
e-mail: danielsharples@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: wirral.gov.uk 
 

 
This meeting will be webcast at 

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 
AGENDA  

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  
 
2. APOLOGIES  
 
3. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 

pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest. 
 

4. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 8 June 2022. 

 

Please note that public seating is limited, therefore members of the public 
are encouraged to arrive in good time. 
 
Wirral Council is fully committed to equalities and our obligations under The 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. If you have any 
adjustments that would help you attend or participate at this meeting, please 
let us know as soon as possible and we would be happy to facilitate where 
possible. Please contact committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk 
 

Public Document Pack

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


5. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS  
 
 5.1 Public Questions 

 
  Notice of question to be given in writing or by email by 12 

noon, 22 June 2022 to the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
(committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt with in 
accordance with Standing Order 10. 
 
For more information on how your personal information will be 
used, please see this link: 
Document Data Protection Protocol for Public Speakers at 
Committees | Wirral Council 
 
Please telephone the Committee Services Officer if you have 
not received an acknowledgement of your question by the 
deadline for submission. 
 

 5.2 Statements and Petitions 
 

  Notice of representations to be given in writing or by email by 
12 noon, 22 June 2022 to the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
(committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt with in 
accordance with Standing Order 11.1. 
 
Petitions may be presented to the Committee if provided to 
Democratic and Member Services no later than 10 working 
days before the meeting, at the discretion of the Chair. The 
person presenting the petition will be allowed to address the 
meeting briefly (not exceeding three minute) to outline the 
aims of the petition. The Chair will refer the matter to another 
appropriate body of the Council within whose terms of 
reference it falls without discussion, unless a relevant item 
appears elsewhere on the Agenda. If a petition contains more 
than 5,000 signatures, it will be debated at a subsequent 
meeting of Council for up to 15 minutes, at the discretion of 
the Mayor. 
 
Please telephone the Committee Services Officer if you have 
not received an acknowledgement of your statement/petition 
by the deadline for submission. 
 

 5.3 Questions by Members 
 

  Questions by Members to dealt with in accordance with 
Standing Orders 12.3 to 12.8. 
 

SECTION A - KEY AND OTHER DECISIONS 
 
6. WIRRAL PLAN UPDATE (Pages 9 - 58) 
 
7. WIRRAL COUNCIL IMPROVEMENT PLAN (Pages 59 - 118) 
 

https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Data%20Protection%20Protocol%20for%20Public%20Speakers%20at%20Co&ID=1298&RPID=517238898
https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Data%20Protection%20Protocol%20for%20Public%20Speakers%20at%20Co&ID=1298&RPID=517238898


Policy & Resources Committee Terms of Reference 
 
 The Policy and Resources Committee has two main areas of 

responsibility, which is to provide strategic direction to the operation of 
the Council, including making decisions on policies and co-ordinating 
spend not reserved to full Council, and to maintain a strategic overview 
of outcomes, performance, risk management and budgets. 
 
The Committee is charged by full Council to:- 
 
(a) formulate, co-ordinate and implement corporate policies and 

strategies and the medium term financial plan (budget), which 
includes responsibility for any decision: 

(i) that relates to such matters to the extent that they are not 
reserved to full Council; 

(ii) on any cross-cutting policies that impact on other committee 
areas;  

(iii) on policy matters not otherwise allocated to any other 
committee; and  

(iv) to determine any dispute or difference between committees; 
 

(b) provide a co-ordinating role across all other service committees 
and retain a ‘whole-council’ view of performance, budget 
monitoring and risk management, which includes responsibility 
for a decision: 

(i) that has a major impact on a number of Council services or 
on the Council as a whole; 

(ii) on any virement between Budget funds (revenue) requested 
by a Committee or officer in excess of £500,000; 

(iii) on any virement between Budget funds (capital) or any 
amendment to the Capital Programme requested by a 
Committee or officer in excess of £500,000 

(iv) regarding land and property including major acquisition and 
disposals, which includes reserved decision making 
concerning any purchase, sale or transfer of a value in 
excess of, or likely to exceed, £500,000, unless the 
Committee has delegated this function in relation to a 
specified area or business plan as the Committee may 
determine 

(v) regarding companies or limited liability partnerships 
including acquisition and disposals; and  

(vi) which is deemed significant in terms of impact on the 
Council’s revenue or capital (to be determined by the Head 
of Paid Service and/or Section 151 Officer in consultation 
with the Leader); 

 
(c) without limiting the generality of responsibility for cross-cutting 

policies (at (a) above), lead on behalf of the Council: 



(i) in matters concerning relationships with HM Government, 
the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and other 
major public and non-public bodies; 

 
(d) appoint Council representatives as required;  
 
(e) nominate councillors and other persons to outside bodies; and 
 
(f) undertake responsibility for developing and monitoring the 

enabling corporate services, including, finance and investment, 
project support and risk management, strategic procurement and 
commercial strategies, ICT, property and asset management, 
human resources and organisational development, law and 
governance, communications and public affairs, emergency 
planning and business continuity.  

 
 



POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 8 June 2022 
 

Present: Councillor J Williamson (Chair) 

 
 Councillors T Anderson 

P Gilchrist 
P Cleary 
EA Grey 
T Jones 
Y Nolan 
 

J Robinson 
P Stuart 
H Cameron 
L Rennie 
J Bird 
J Johnson 
 

In attendance: Councillors  C Davies 
 

  
 

 
 

1 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  
 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and those watching the 
webcast. 
 

2 APOLOGIES  
 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 

3 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members were asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests and any 
other relevant interest and to state the nature of the interest. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 
At the request of the Chair, the Committee agreed to alter the order of 
business 

4 REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT ASSURANCE PANEL  
 
The Chief Executive introduced the report, which provided the first update 
report of Wirral’s Independent Assurance Panel, set up to oversee the 
Council’s improvement in response to the external assurance review 
commissioned by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) which was published in November 2021. An error in the report was 
clarified under section 2.3 which should have read that the two other groups 
voted against the budget with amendments. 
 
The Chair of the Independent Assurance Panel outlined the positive steps that 
the Council taken to its improvement including achieving the £18m budget 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



savings for 2022/23. She advised that the process of implementing the 
savings would be a challenge and that the Panel would continue to track their 
progress. It was noted that the budget gap of £14m for 2023/24 had been 
agreed, but the Committee was advised that given the rate of inflation, cost of 
living crisis and pay negotiations, this figure could be expected to raise 
significantly, and this needed to be accounted for. 
 
The Chair of the Panel noted and supported the ambitious regeneration plans 
for the borough and encouraged the Council to move quickly and build 
moment to get delivery on the ground, citing the cost of living crisis as a 
potential obstacle in future. The Council was further encouraged to retain its 
inclusivity of political processes, with cross-party working appearing fragile at 
time and therefore mutual respect moving forward was necessary to achieve 
what was required. The improvement in officer member relationships and 
success of the new Councillor induction programme was noted, with improved 
working between the three statutory officers likely to see the Chief Executive 
and Leader more supported. 
 
The Committee thanked the Chair of the Independent Assurance Panel for the 
fair and accurate reflection. In response to questions from members on 
various aspects of the report, the Chief Executive outlined that the Local 
Government Association had been commissioned to undertake a piece of 
work in response to the recommendations in the Ada Burns report, the 
conclusion of which would be reported back to members. 
 
On a motion by the Chair, seconded by Councillor Tom Anderson, it was – 
 
Resolved – That 
 

(1) the contents of the report of the Independent Assurance Panel 
and the dashboard against the recommendations arising from the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities external 
assurance review be noted and referred to full Council for further 
consideration. 
 

(2) the update in respect to the Corporate Peer Challenge be noted 
and a detailed report be submitted to the next meeting of the 
Policy and Resources Committee. 

 
5 MINUTES  

 
Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2022 be 
approved and adopted as a correct record. 
 

6 PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

Page 2



The Chair informed the Committee that two questions had been received from 
members of the public. The Monitoring Officer read them out on the 
questioners’ behalf. 
 
The first question was from Dr Jane Turner to the Chair of Policy and 
Resources Committee seeking information on how many Expressions of 
Interests had been received for Community Asset Transfers.  
 
In response, the Chair outlined that the window for Expressions of Interests 
closed on 6 May, and further detail could be found in the Community Asset 
Transfer report published on the same day for the Tourism, Communities, 
Culture and Leisure Committee on 16 June. 
 
The second question received was from Jon White to the Chair of Policy and 
Resources Committee asking how much Wirral Council owes in Lender 
Option Borrowing Option loans, which lenders are owed to and what steps 
were being taken to make savings on the loans. 
 
In response, the Chair outlined that £100.5m was owed in Lender Option 
Borrowing Option loans to Bayern LB, FMS – Wertmanagement, 
Commerzbank and Just Retirement Ltd, and that the Council was in active 
discussions with an external advisor to consider refinancing the existing loans 
if the new refinancing cost provided a saving against the settlement premium 
for early termination of the existing loans. 
 

7 STATEMENTS AND PETITIONS  
 
The Chair informed the Committee that no statements or petitions had been 
submitted. 
 

8 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS  
 
No questions from Members had been received. 
 

9 2021-22 BUDGET MONITORING FOR QUARTER 4 (1 JAN-31 MAR), 2021-
22 OUTTURN  
 
The Director of Resources introduced the report which provided a summary of 
the year-end revenue position for the 2021/22 financial year as at the end of 
March 2021 and an overview of budget performance to enable the Committee 
to take ownership of the budgets and provide robust challenge and scrutiny to 
Officers on the performance of those budgets. 
 
The report detailed the conditional offer of Exceptional Financial Support from 
the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities of £10.7m and 
that the reduced amount of £6.360m had been agreed by Ministers following 
receipt of additional grant funding and underspend. The Committee was 

Page 3



advised that the figure had reduced further to £5.846m and the conditions of 
acceptance were appended to the report. 
 
The report detailed the revenue budget and outturn position broken down by 
directorate, and the Director of Resources outlined the reasons for any 
variance for each directorate. Detail was provided on the level of reserves and 
the Committee was reminded that the Council had been criticised for the low 
level of earmarked reserves in the External Assurance Review and therefore 
they had been increased in response. 
 
Members discussed the report in detail and officers responded to questions 
on various matters including the reasons for the favourable variance in Adult 
Care and Health. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Janette Williamson, seconded by Councillor Jean 
Robinson, that the recommendations detailed within the report be agreed.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Jo Bird, seconded by Councillor Pat Cleary, that 
the recommendations within the report be agreed, subject to the inclusion of 
the following –  
 
“A further report be submitted to Policy & Resources Committee, by its first 
meeting in September, regarding the Real Living Wage being paid to all 
workers delivering Council services.” 
 
Further information was sought from the Director of Resources, who informed 
the Committee that the feasibility of the proposal had been undertaken with an 
estimated cost to the Council of £600k to £1.2m, which was considered to be 
unaffordable, therefore any report that would be submitted to the Policy & 
Resources Committee as a consequence of the motion would advise the 
Committee that the proposal was not affordable. 
 
On a motion by Councillor Paul Stuart, seconded by Councillor Janette 
Williamson, the Committee agreed to move to the vote. The motion as 
amended was put and lost (2:13).  
 
The original motion was therefore put and agreed unanimously. It was 
therefore –  
 
Resolved – That  
 

(1) it be noted that the draft, unaudited outturn variance for 2021/22 is 
a balanced position, after utilising exceptional financing support. 
 

(2) the requirement to utilise £5.846m of exceptional financial 
support, in line with the relevant guidance (see Appendix 2), 

Page 4



subject to external audit, be noted. 
 

(3) the Director of Resources be authorised to accept the revised 
offer of exceptional financial support from the Department of 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities as referred to in Section 
3.11 of the report. 
 

(4) the impact of funding and expenditure as a direct consequence of 
Covid-19, including the additional funding sources which have 
been identified, as referred to in section 3.10 of this report be 
noted. 
 

(5) transfers to earmarked Reserves, as detailed in the report, be 
approved. 

 
10 CAPITAL OUTTURN REPORT 2021-22  

 
The Director of Resources introduced the report which detailed the Capital 
Outturn for 2021/22, the resources used to fund the Programme and provided 
a review of the progress of the delivery of the agreed Capital Programme. 
 
The Committee was advised that the capital expenditure for the year was 
£45.6m compared to the Revised Programme of £71.9m which was reported 
in February 2022 (Quarter 3). The reported detailed that £30.4m of capital had 
been re-profiled from 2021/22 to 2022/23 due to slippage, and a breakdown 
by directorate was provided to the Committee. 
 
Resolved – That Council be recommended to: 
 

(1) note the additional year-end re-profiling of £30.4m from 2021/22 to 
2022/23. 
 

(2) note the financing of the programme for 2021/22. 
 

(3) approve the virements referred to in appendix 3 to the report. 
 

11 CAPITAL PROGRAMME - VIREMENTS  
 
The Director of Resources introduced a report that followed a Council 
decision that funding would be identified within the 2022/23 Capital 
Programme to provide capital resource for community asset transfer of up to 
£500,000 in respect of library facilities and Climate Emergency Budget 
support of up to £125,000 and recommended that monies be vired from the 
property related Health and Safety Condition Surveys Budget. 
 
On a motion by the Chair, seconded by Councillor Jean Robinson, it was –  
 

Page 5



Resolved – That a virement of capital funding of £625,000 from the 
Health and Safety Condition Survey programme be agreed to fund 
eligible capital works in relation to community asset transfer of up to 
£500,000 and to fund eligible capital works in relation to the climate 
emergency budget of up to £125,000. 
 

12 APPOINTMENT TO SUB-COMMITTEES  
 
The Director of Law ad Governance introduced the report which was to 
enable the Policy and Resources Committee, in accordance with the relevant 
statutory provisions and the terms of the Constitution, to appoint Members to 
the three Sub-Committees of the Policy and Resources Committee for 
2022/2023, namely: 
 

 The Senior Officer Appointments and Staffing Sub-Committee 

 The Finance Sub-Committee 

 The Shareholder Board 
 
The report also requested the Committee to re-appoint the Contain Outbreak 
Management Fund Working Group, first appointed by this Committee on 9 
June, 2021 (minute 10 refers).  
 
Members discussed the size of the Finance Sub-Committee and were 
agreeable to increasing the size of it to six members so that all four groups 
could be represented on it. 
 
On a motion by the Chair, seconded by Councillor Jean Robinson, it was –  
 
Resolved – That 
 

(1) the Senior Officer Appointments and Staffing Sub-Committee be  
appointed for 2022-23 with the terms of reference as referred to in 
paragraph 3.1 of the report and will consist of: 
 
(i)the Leader (Chair of Policy & Resources Committee), or in their 
absence the Deputy Leader (Vice-Chair), who shall chair the Sub-
Committee; 
(ii) a member from each of the other Political Groups represented 
on the Policy & Resources Committee; and 
(iii) the Chair, or in their absence the Vice-Chair, of the Policy & 
Services Committee with terms of reference most closely 
associated with the post concerned (or if that committee 
concerned is deemed to be the Policy & Resources Committee 
then the Deputy Leader (Vice-Chair). 
 

(2) the Finance Sub-Committee be appointed for 2022-23 with the 
terms of reference identified with 6 members of the Policy and 

Page 6



Resources Committee. 
 

(3) the Shareholder Board be appointed for 2022-23 with the terms of 
reference identified with 3 members of the Policy and Resources 
Committee. 
 

(4) that the Contain Outbreak Management Fund Working Group be 
appointed with 6 members for 2022/23 with the terms of reference 
identified. 
 

(5) the Monitoring Officer as proper officer be authorised to carry out 
the wishes of the Group Leaders in allocating Members to 
membership and substitute membership of those sub-committees 
and Working Group, listed in recommendations (1) to (4) above 
and to appoint those Members with effect from the date at which 
the proper officer is advised of the names of such Members. 

 
13 WORK PROGRAMME  

 
The Democracy Business Manager introduced the report of the Director of 
Law and Governance which set out the Committee’s current work programme 
and provided the Committee with an opportunity to plan and regularly review 
its work across the municipal year and was attached as an appendix to the 
report. 
 
The Committee was asked to review its work programme in light of the 
change in the Terms of Reference following Council’s adoption of a revised 
Constitution on 25 May 2022, so that the agenda of any Committee or Sub-
Committee shall only include those items of business that require a decision, 
relate to budget or performance monitoring or which are necessary to 
discharge their overview and scrutiny function. 
 
Following an ask from a member, the Director of Resources undertook to 
circulate the Wirral Growth Company draft accounts to members of the Policy 
and Resources Committee. 
 
Resolved – That the Policy & Resources Committee work programme for 
the 2022/23 municipal year be agreed. 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

 

POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

Monday, 27 June 2022  
 

REPORT TITLE: WIRRAL PLAN UPDATE 

REPORT OF: CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report provides an update on the Wirral Plan 2021-26 which was approved by Council 
on 6 September 2021. The Plan was adopted part way through the year reflecting the 
Council’s re-set from the emergency management arrangements in response to the 
pandemic back to resumption of normal business delivery during 2021/22.  
 
The report provides a high-level summary of delivery progress made for the months since 
the plan was approved and also provides a refresh of the proposed plan priorities for 
2022/23. The Wirral Plan is a key document of the Council’s policy framework, setting out 
the vision and priorities for Wirral as a place. The Plan has been aligned with the Council’s 
Improvement Plan which sets out the vision and priorities for organisational change and 
improvement that will ensure the Council is in the best shape to lead Wirral partners in 
achieving the Wirral Plan vision. 
 
The Wirral Plan was developed following engagement with Members, staff and partners in 
2020/21. As the Council moves to a Whole Council Election scheme in 2023, there is an 
opportunity to re-set the Wirral Plan as a four-year plan for the full term of the new 
administration. This work will be conducted during 2022/23 to enable a new 2023/27 plan to 
be adopted from Summer 2023. 
 
The report affects all wards in the borough and is a key decision. 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
The Policy and Resources Committee is recommended to: 
 
1. Note the progress made against Wirral Plan deliverables as set out in Appendix 2. 

2. Endorse the refreshed Wirral Plan 2022/23 priorities, as set out in Appendix 3, and 

recommend their approval by Council in July. 

 
  

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 
 

1.1 The Wirral Plan sets out the Council’s ambition and priorities for Wirral. As a key 
document in the Council’s policy framework, there is a need for the Wirral Plan to be 
monitored and reviewed to ensure its vision and priorities remain appropriate for the 
borough. The Plan reflects what people have told us is important to them and will be 
used to help staff understand their role in helping to deliver our corporate priorities. 

 
2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
2.1 The constitution specifies the need for the Council to produce a Plan for Wirral. The 

Wirral Plan meets this requirement and sets out the vision and priorities for the 
Council and its partners. Wirral Plan Refresh 2022/23 considers the key priorities for 
the Council in view of the emerging challenges and opportunities the borough will 
face in the next 12 months. 
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 The Wirral Plan was approved by Council on 6 September 2021 and is included as 
Appendix 1 to this report. The Plan sets out the vision for the borough: ‘To create 
equity for people and place and opportunities for all to secure the best 
possible future for our residents, communities and businesses’.  The Plan is 
built around the following five strategic priorities for the Council and its partners: 

 Sustainable Environment 

 Brighter Futures 

 Inclusive Economy 

 Safe and Pleasant Communities 

 Active and Healthy Lives 
 
3.2 The approval of the plan mid-year reflected the need for the Council to re-set its 

strategic direction and priorities emerging from the Covid 19 pandemic. 2021/22 has 
effectively been a transitional year as the Council and other public sector providers 
have moved from the emergency response system put in place to deal with Covid to 
a more business-as-usual footing as we adapt to living with Covid 19. As the plan 
has not been in operation for a full year, a brief, high-level summary of progress 
against the five strategic priorities is attached to this report as Appendix 2.  

 
3.3 As part of the annual review process, there is a need to refresh the plan to ensure it 

continues to meet the needs of the borough and remains relevant to emerging issues 
and priorities. A summary Wirral Plan Refresh is included as Appendix 3 which sets 
a series of priorities for delivery in 2022/23. The implementation of these priorities 
will be worked up in more detail by the Policy and Service committees as part of their 
normal work programming. 

 
3.4 A performance management framework will be developed which reviews progress 

against 2022/23 plan deliverables as well as relevant performance indicators and 
measures. A suite of population level outcome indictors has been identified that will 
be monitored to understand performance against plan priorities. Performance will be 

Page 10



 

 

reviewed through an interim performance report in the Autumn 2022 and at year end 
in Spring 2023. 

 
3.5 The Wirral Plan approved in September was a five-year plan for 2021-26. This one-

year refresh for 2022/23 is in advance of the Council moving to a Whole Council 
Election Scheme in May 2023 that will see an administration elected for four years. 
This change provides a clear opportunity to move the Council’s planning cycle to four 
years to align with the election of a new administration. Therefore, it is proposed that 
officers work with the Council’s political leadership during 2022/23 to develop a new 
four year plan for adoption following the elections in May 2023. 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. The Wirral Plan 
provides the strategic framework upon which the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) and Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) are based. 

 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. The Wirral Plan is a 

key document in the Council’s Policy Framework in line with the Council’s 
constitution. It sets the priorities and guides decision-making in respect of the MTFS, 
Council budget and policy.  

 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 There are no resource implications arising directly from this report.  
 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 The Corporate Risk Register is maintained in the context of the Wirral Plan and the 

Council’s ability to deliver it effectively. The Corporate Risk Register is maintained 
and reported regularly through Audit and Risk Management Committee and will also 
be reported to Policy and Resources Committee in the new municipal cycle.  
 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 The Wirral Plan reflects what people have told us are the important priorities for 

Wirral. Ongoing engagement will take place with staff, residents, businesses and 
partners as part of a collaborative approach to deliver the aims set out within the 
Plan. The 2022/23 Wirral Plan Refresh has been worked up in collaboration with the 
Council’s political leadership. 
 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 

carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity. 

 

Page 11



 

 

9.2 The fundamental and core purpose of the Wirral Plan is to tackle inequalities and 
improve equity for all our residents. The plan seeks to address the existing socio-
economic and health inequalities in the Borough, to do things differently and make a 
fairer, more inclusive Wirral. Specific Equality Impact Assessments will be 
undertaken against all new initiatives and projects developed to support plan 
implementation. 

 
 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 The Wirral Plan reflects the Council’s strong commitment to improve the 

environment, with clear actions to address environment and climate emergency. All 
new initiatives and projects that support plan implementation will be assessed to 
ensure opportunities are harnessed that deliver on the Council’s climate emergency 
agenda. 

 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Wirral has some stark economic, social and health inequalities. The Wirral Plan is 

committed to addressing this – by shaping an economy that benefits all our residents 
and one which keeps money within Wirral and delivers a prosperous, inclusive 
economy where local people can get good jobs and achieve their aspirations. With 
Community Wealth Building at its heart, the Wirral Plan sets out how to tackle this 
and makes a major contribution to improving the economic, social and health 
outcomes of the borough. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Michael Callon 
  (Head of Corporate Office) 
  telephone: 0151 691 8379 
  email:  michaelcallon@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Wirral Plan 2021-26 
Appendix 2 – Wirral Plan Delivery Progress 2021-22 
Appendix 3 – Wirral Plan 2022-23 Refresh 
Appendix 4 – Wirral Plan Indicative Performance Measures 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Council Constitution 
Corporate Risk Register 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Council  
 
Policy and Resources Committee 
 
 

6 September 2021 
 
28 July 2021 

 

Page 12



Equity for People and Place

2021-26

P
age 13



Contents
2  Foreword 

3 The Place

4  The Borough of Wirral 
5   Wirral in a Lifetime

6 The Vision

7  Sustainable Environment
9  Brighter Futures
11 Inclusive Economy
13 Safe and Pleasant Communities
15 Active and Healthy Lives

17 The Plan

18  Working in Partnership
19 Cross Cutting Strategies
20  Underpinning Principles  
21 Underpinning Activity

23  Our Commitment

Without a doubt, there has been some 
remarkable changes taking place across 
Wirral during the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The pace and efficacy in which council 
services have adapted to the challenges 
presented by the unfolding situation has 
been astounding and the willingness 
of people across the borough to work 
together to protect lives and support each 
other has been humbling.  

Incredible examples of how partners 
have joined together in community 
outreach, from new partnerships with local 
organisations, businesses, and individuals to 
council employees who have volunteered to 
undertake radically different roles, providing 
support where needed most and delivering 
the critical services required to protect our 
most vulnerable.  

The response has highlighted the 
importance of emergency planning, clear 
and honest communication, flexibility of 
working arrangements, quick thinking, 
rapid responses, and forward planning. 
Underpinning all of this has been a robust 
digital system, which has provided remote 
connectivity where face to face contact has 
been extremely restricted. It has enabled 
the council to maintain essential services 
and redeploy talent.

However, as well as these positive 
responses, we know that Covid-19 has 
accelerated existing inequalities within the 
borough in terms of both health outcomes 
and wider socio-economic disparities. 
Some groups have been, and will be, much 
more affected through issues such as 
unemployment, redundancy, loss of income, 
debt and hardship, with children, families, 
and young people living in poverty.

There is no doubt that this crisis has 
also sharply exposed existing unacceptable 
socio-economic and health inequalities 
in our borough. We know the unfair 
impact of the pandemic on those already 
disadvantaged groups, and the additional 
burden COVID-19 has placed on areas 
with already poor health outcomes. That 
is why is we are committed to building a 
fairer, more prosperous Wirral, where local 
people can get good jobs and achieve their 
aspirations. Community Wealth Building is 
a key part of how we will achieve this and 
will help improve the economic, social and 
health chances for residents. Community 
Wealth Building is therefore at the heart 
of our refreshed Wirral Plan, to help 
drive inclusive economic growth as well 
improving services for health and social 
care; families; environment; and housing.

For all of the above reasons, this Wirral 
Plan will put tackling inequalities at its core. 
We have a once in a lifetime opportunity 
to do things differently and make a fairer, 
more inclusive borough.

Councillor Janette Williamson,
Wirral Council Leader

Foreword

2

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26

P
age 14



Wirral Council touches almost every aspect  
of residents’ lives. That is a huge responsibility. 
We’re expected to do our job, do it well, and 
help people live better, happier and safer lives. 
We’re committed to reducing inequalities  
and promoting opportunities for everyone, 
right across the borough.

The 
Place

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE PLACE

The new Wirral Plan focuses on making  
the borough a more equitable and fairer 
place to live, work and visit. It is a direct 
result of what our residents, businesses 
and partners have told us matter most.

The plan will focus on reducing 
inequalities across Wirral as we all work 
to recover from the pandemic, physically, 
emotionally, financially. We will use this 
unique point in time to ensure Wirral’s 
recovery is on the right track to create 
a fairer and more prosperous place for 
people to live and work; making sure we 
meet and even exceed our obligations in 
responding to the Climate Emergency; and 
tackling inequalities and building a fairer, 
more prosperous Wirral where anyone can 
achieve their aspirations and share in the 
future successes of the borough.

To show how we aim to achieve 
these things, in October 2019 Council 
unanimously agreed the Wirral Plan 2025 
which set out the Strategic Vision and key 
priorities for the borough. The Plan was 
based on what people told us matter. In it 
we set out our stall and committed to what 
we will deliver over the next five years.

However, because of Covid-19, there 
was a need to review the 2025 Plan to 
make sense of the radically changed world 
that we find ourselves in. 

As the Covid-19 response progresses 
There is no doubt that the pandemic will 
continue to have a significant impact on 
Wirral residents and businesses for some 
time to come. 

The refreshed Wirral Plan 2026 is 
using this as an opportunity to revisit and 
reposition the borough’s priorities and 
ambitions and create a more equitable and 
secure future for everyone in Wirral.

3

P
age 15



Wirral is as diverse as it is distinctive. It is a 
place of disparities, with some of the most 
affluent and deprived wards in the UK on 
opposite sides of the motorway, which runs 
through the middle of the borough.

A peninsula some 15 miles long and 7 miles 
wide, it is bound by the River Dee to the west, 
River Mersey to the east, and the Irish Sea to 
the north. 

Named one of the happiest places to live 
in the UK according to a recent survey, it 
has a current population of 322,796 (48.4% 
Male/ 51.6% Female), Wirral is one of the 

largest metropolitan boroughs in England. This 
population is set to increase by 3% to 334,500 
in 2040. 

Wirral has 50 miles of rural walking routes, 
cycle areas and beaches, 24 miles of coastline 
and some of the best parks and green spaces 
in the Country – boasting 30 Green Flags. An 
untapped built, industrial, maritime and social 
heritage that is internationally significant whilst 
also being a very connected and accessible 
destination – A place to live, work, and to do 
business. 

Compared to Liverpool City Region partners, 

and England as a whole, the borough also 
has a diverse make up in terms of age, with 
a relatively higher older population and a low 
proportion of people in their twenties and 
thirties.

The inequalities in life expectancy at   
birth sees both male and female residents 
continuing to compare poorly against the 
England average, with a large gap in life 
expectancy between wards in the east and 
west of Wirral. This gap widened for both men 
and women between 2015-17and 2016-18 
from 9.3 to 10.7 years for women, and 9.8 

to 12.1 years for men, reflecting the large 
inequalities in the borough. 

In further trying to understand the 
challenges of our borough’s inequalities, the 
2019 Indices of Deprivation saw Wirral ranked 
the 77th most deprived authority (of 317 
authorities) in England. The report  
found that just over 35% of the Wirral 
population (around 115,500 people) are 
suggested to live in areas classified as being 
in the most deprived 20% of areas in England, 
with over 83,000 of those residents living in 
the 10% most deprived.

The Borough of Wirral

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE PLACE

Wirral is a borough of contrasts,  
of incredible community spirit and 
strong local partnerships. It is a  
place where equity and opportunity 
will provide brighter futures for all.

4

P
age 16



A Wirral lifecourse perspective 2021  

Better No significant 
difference Worse

The below graphic provides an overview of many key 
health headlines that may affect Wirral residents at 
different life stages, when compared to national averages.

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE PLACE

5

Smoking  
at time of 
delivery

Households
without a car

Anti-social
behaviour

Food
insecurity

Households
without 
heating

Greenspace
coverage

Life  
expectancy 
at 65 years  

of age

Infant
mortality

Children
living in  
poverty

Living well
Self-harm 

admissions
( age 10-24 ) 

Ageing well

Unhealthy
weight in 

adults

Starting well
Life  

expectancy 
at birth

Low 
Birthweight

(term babies)

Obesity
in children
in year 6

Children
in care

Good 
level of 

development
at end of
reception

Average 
Attainment

8 score

16/17 year  
olds who  
are NEET 

Out of
work benefit

claimants

Fuel 
poverty

Air quality
Smoking

prevalence
in adults

Alcohol 
related

admissions
(broad 

measure)

Depression 
(prevalence)

Self-reported
wellbeing

Physical 
activity

Healthy life  
expectancy

Social
isolation

Probability
of loneliness

Pensioners 
in poverty

Older people
receiving

winter fuel
payments

Flu
vaccination

coverage  
(65+)

Alcohol
related

mortality 

P
age 17



The 
Vision

Our vision is to create equity for people  
and place and opportunities for all to secure 
the best possible future for our residents, 
communities and businesses. The vision has 
been developed to build on five thematic 
priorities that focus on improving outcomes 
for whole population groups. 

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE VISION

6

Sustainable Environment 

Working towards a clean-energy, sustainable 
borough that leads the way in its response to the 
climate emergency and is environmentally friendly.

Brighter Futures 

Working together for brighter futures for our 
children, young people and their families by 
breaking the cycle of poor outcomes for all 
regardless of their background.

Inclusive Economy 

Working for a prosperous, inclusive economy - 
helping businesses to thrive and creating jobs and 
opportunities for all.

Safe and Pleasant Communities

Working for safe and pleasant communities where 
our residents feel safe, and are proud to live and 
raise their families.

Active and Healthy Lives 

Working to provide happy, active and healthy lives 
for all, with the right care, at the right time to 
enable residents to live longer and healthier lives.

P
age 18



WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |   THE VISION

7

leading the way in responding to the climate emergency.

P
age 19



Working towards  
a clean-energy, for a 
sustainable borough  
that leads the way in  
its response to the  
climate emergency  
and is environmentally  
friendly.

Sustainable  
Environment

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE VISION

8

The Wirral Picture

•Key environmental concerns for the 
borough are the impacts of climate change, 
such as flood risk associated with more 
extreme weather events. Tidal and river 
flooding is also an issue in some areas, with 
parts of the borough having a high surface 
water flood risk, and some being at risk from 
rising groundwater levels. 

•In response to the Climate Change 
Emergency the council is committed to 
achieving net zero carbon by 2041. 

Our Key Achievements :

•Highways, streetlights, and roads continuing 
to improve - 13,500 LED streetlights fitted 
over last 12 months and £6m structural 
maintenance programme to support our 
biggest asset our roads including £15m 
transport schemes programme (consistent 
with above).

•Climate Emergency declared and new 
Action Plan produced to address it.

•Launched the new Wirral Tree Strategy and 
planting programme.

To achieve a clean, sustainable borough for 
all, we aim to :

•Respond to the climate change emergency

•Protect our cherished local environment

•Improve street cleanliness

•Support active travel networks

To do this, we will deliver : 

•The Climate Emergency action plan and the 
Cool Wirral 2 strategies

•The major LED replacement scheme

•Implementation of major capital 
infrastructure investments to support Wirral’s 
highways

•Wirral’s cycling and walking programme

P
age 20



WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE VISION

9

For our children, young people and their families.

P
age 21



Working together for  
brighter futures for our 
children, young people  
and their families by 
breaking the cycle of 
poor outcomes for all  
regardless of their 
background.

Brighter  
Futures 

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE VISION

The Wirral Picture

•The rate of children in care per 10,000 
population in Wirral remains high at 121.6 
compared to a national average of 67. 

•Inequalities in education has been 
highlighted, with lower GCSE attainment of 
just 11.8% of Looked After Children (LAC) 
achieving Grades of 4 or above in English and 
Maths, compared to 24.4% nationally (2020).

•The percentage of pupils in Wirral with an 
Education Health Care Plan (EHCP) is 3.4%, 
slightly higher than the England average of 
3.3% (2020).

•The number of children who are being 
electively home educated in Wirral has 
increased by 39% from 181 in March 2020 to 
252 in March 2021.

•There has been 16.6% increase in pupils 
eligible for Free School Meals, from 10,848 in 
January 2020 to 12,652 in January 2021.

Our Key Achievements :

•We have embedded the improvements 
made since the 2016 OFSTED inspection to 
secure the transition of the local authority.

•We have ensured services provide value 
for money by implementing our prevention 
strategy through a range of innovation 
programmes which include Cradle to Career, 
Social Workers in Schools, First Step for 
Families, Community Matter, Family Nurse 
Partnership Extension, PAUSE, DRIVE and our 
sufficiency strategy.

•We continue to respond effectively to 
Covid-19 by keeping children safe from abuse 
and neglect and ensuring that children are 
able to access education and learning.

To achieve brighter futures for all,  
we aim to :

•Break the cycle of poor outcomes

•Reduce educational attainment inequalities

•Raise the aspirations of all our children and 
young people

To do this, we will deliver : 

•Targeted prevention and early intervention 
programmes

•A transformational partnership 
accommodation programme

•A fit for purpose school improvements and 
sufficiency strategy

•Priorities and objectives of the SEND 
strategy

10

P
age 22



WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE VISION

Image credit: CGI of the Four Bridges neighbourhood at Peel L&P’s Wirral Waters 

helping businesses to thrive and creating opportunities for all.

11

P
age 23



Working for a 
prosperous, inclusive 
economy - helping 
businesses to thrive 
and creating jobs and 
opportunities for all.

Inclusive  
Economy

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE VISION

The Wirral Picture

•Wirral is home to over 7,400 businesses             
providing employment for 111,000 people. 

•Economic activity rates in Wirral are     
currently below the national average at 73.9% 
compared to 79.1% of the working age 
population of Great Britain.

•Gross weekly pay in Wirral (full time 
workers) is £561.2 compared to £560.3 in 
the North West.

•Youth unemployment in Wirral (12%) is 
currently higher than the England average 
(9%), although working-age unemployment 
claimants in Wirral are at similar level to 
England. 

•In Wirral 23,000 people are employed in 
jobs related to human health and social work 
activities. This is 22.5% of the jobs available 
in Wirral. In comparison, 14.2% of people are 
employed in this sector in the North West, 
and 13.1% nationally.

Our Key Achievements:

•Local Plan Reg 18 Issues and Option 
consultation achieved to MHCLG agreed 
timeline and now focussing on Urban Option 
Local Plan.

•New comprehensive regeneration strategy 
produced leading to starts on site for 
Wirral Waters and the Town Centre (LGA 
acknowledging that Wirral is on cusp of 
Regeneration of National Significance).

•Covid-19 led distribution of £50m Business 
Grants and Strong Economy Plan with 
Community Wealth Building at its heart.

•Council’s response to Homelessness and 
the Everyone In campaign.

•Safe closedown of operational estate during 
lockdown and remobilisation of Covid secure 
operating environments to ensure business 
continuity.

To achieve a prosperous, inclusive 
economy for all, we aim to:

•Deliver regeneration, transport and growth 
ambitions

•Create community wealth and social value

•Create jobs and support local businesses

•Develop quality, affordable sustainable 
homes

•Prevent and relieve homelessness 

To do this, we will deliver: 

•The Wirral Local Plan, addressing housing 
needs

•Wirral’s Economic Strategy for 2026

•The Birkenhead 2040 Framework

•Localised transport strategies, including 
active travel projects

•Community Wealth Building ambitions

•Priorities and objectives of the 
Homelessness strategy

12

P
age 24



WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE VISION

13

where our residents feel safe, and are proud to live.

P
age 25



Working for safe and 
pleasant communities 
where our residents  
feel safe, and are proud  
to live and raise their  
families.

Safe and 
Pleasant 
Communities

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE VISION

The Wirral Picture

•Wirral sees lower than the average crime 
levels, compared to England. Between 
September 2019 and August 2020 Wirral had 
97.8 crimes per 1,000 population compared 
to 102.2 per 1,000 population for England. 

Our Key Achievements

 

:

•Highways, streetlights, and roads have 
improved - 13,500 LED streetlights fitted 
over last 12 months and £6m structural 
maintenance programme to support our 
biggest asset our roads including £15m 
transport schemes programme.

•Delivered improved resident focused 
Neighbourhood services.

•Managed services through challenging 
Covid-19 pandemic, using innovative and 
collaborative solutions.

To achieve a clean, sustainable borough  
for all, we aim to

 

:

•Work with our partner agencies to reduce 
crime and tackle anti-social behaviour

•Tackle rough sleeping and homelessness

•Deliver everyday neighbourhoods services 
to the best possible standard 

To do this, we will deliver

 

: 

•The DRIVE Programme

•The design of a new neighbourhoods model

•A new fit for purpose libraries model and 
strategy

•A community safety strategy

14

P
age 26



WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE VISION

15

for all, with the right care, at the right time.

P
age 27



Working to provide  
happy, active and 
healthy lives for all, 
with the right care, at 
the right time to enable 
residents to live longer 
and healthier lives.

Active and 
Healthy Lives

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26  |  THE VISION

The Wirral Picture

•Wirral hospital admission episodes for 
alcohol-specific conditions are almost double 
the national average, with prevalence of 
hypertension (high blood pressure) at around 
one in six of the Wirral population. 

•Other areas of health inequalities locally 
include a high rate of both diabetes and 
dementia diagnosis. 

•Almost 4% of the working age adults claim 
some type of Mental Health related benefit.

•Premature mortality (deaths in those aged 
under 75), with significantly higher rates of 
mortality from almost all the major causes of 
death in Wirral compared to England.

•The Covid-19 pandemic has been the 
most challenging emergency the borough 
of Wirral and the council has responded to 
in recent times. The nature of the pandemic 
saw the council react at speed to implement 
Government policy and focus on new local 
priorities to limit the spread of the virus, 
protect the health of residents and ensure the 
most vulnerable in our communities are safe 
and cared for.

Our Key Achievements :

•We have led a boroughwide response to 
Covid-19 and provided strong public health 
leadership, advice and action.

•We have supported the social care sector  
during the pandemic, ensuring providers were 
able to respond quickly to changes in policy.

•Worked with the regeneration team 
to improve health outcomes resulting 
from economic regeneration of the built 
environment.

•Supported independent living and improved 
resident’s experience of Health and Care 
through partnerships and integrated services.

•Commitment to encouraging contracted care 
providers to pay the Real Living Wage.

•During the Pandemic Wirral delivered:
- Over 3 million items of PPE. 
- Over 18,000 food hampers  
- Free school meals to 12,137 children 
- £94.5m of business grants 
- 1,064 laptops and 147 routers to children 
and young people to support learning at 
home.

To achieve active and healthy lives for all,  
we aim to :

•Work collaboratively with our partner 
agencies to improve mental wellbeing

•Encourage active living

•Support people to live independently

•Deliver Public Health services to improve 
wider detriments of health

•Tackle health inequalities

To do this, we will deliver : 

•Wirral’s operational Covid-19 Outbreak 
Management plan

•Targeted Health Inequalities strategy

•A new, fit for purpose leisure offer

•Actions and priorities to meet the objectives 
of the Prevention Programme

16

P
age 28



The 
Plan
Cross cutting strategies and policies, as well 
as underpinning principles and activities will 
support and set out how the Wirral Plan will 
be delivered in practical terms, delivering on 
our priorities, and providing a fairer and  
more prosperous place for people to live  
and work.

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26   |   THE PLAN  

17

Working in Partnership

The need for cooperation and collaboration with 
our partners has never been greater. Bringing 
together our policies, resources aims and  
objectives will provide a greater impact than  
when activities are carried out on their own.

Cross Cutting Strategies

A number of cross cutting strategies, plans and 
programmes will be put in place to underpin and 
provide delivery mechanisms for each of our 
delivery aims and priorities.

Underpinning Principles

Having a shared set of underpinning principles 
will define how we work as an organisation, with 
members, with partners, with residents and how  
we will go about our daily business to give  
residents the best possible services.

Underpinning Activity

The Covid-19 pandemic has been the most 
challenging emergency the Borough of Wirral and 
the Council has responded to in recent times. The 
learning from our response has led us to reshape 
areas of underpinning activity to inform the 
refreshed Wirral Plan priorities.

P
age 29



Working in Partnership
Working together to develop 
a shared vision where Wirral 
residents have the right 
information and the right 
support at the right time.

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26   |   THE PLAN  

Partnership has a unique strategic role in 
shaping Wirral as a place. 

Ongoing engagement with our partners 
indicates a strong appetite across the public, 
private and voluntary sectors for a shared 
strategic plan that supports collective 
ambitions. We will continue to review our 
Partnership arrangements to ensure that we 
continue to build on our excellent partnerships 
and networks to support delivery of our 
refreshed Wirral Plan. 

The delivery plan will be a live document 
that can be updated as and when necessary, 
to ensure that The Wirral Plan 2021-26 
remains agile and is ready to respond to 
challenges and opportunities as they arise. 

Wirral’s Partnership arrangements are also 
being reviewed to reflect national changes for 
NHS reforms. This includes proposals for local 
Integrated Care Systems.

New Partnership arrangements will 
provide strategic vision, shared leadership 
and coordination of local networks in order 
to improve Wirral and the population health 
outcomes of its residents. 

To achieve this there are some key pillars of 
work related to the delivery of the Wirral Plan:
•Ensure that the sustainable regeneration 
of the Borough, contributes to improved 
outcomes for residents in line with those set 
out in the Wirral Plan. 
•Ensure that partnership and integrated 
care arrangements are in place and that 
they are effective in delivering improved 
health outcomes and experiences of care for 
residents of Wirral. 
•Understand the needs of the local 
communities in order to develop and 
implement a Health & Wellbeing Strategy to 
tackle inequalities and improve the lives of 
residents. 
•Provide oversight, strategic direction, and 
coordination of the statutory responsibilities of 
the Health & Wellbeing Board. 

Building on extensive partner engagement 
and collaborative working with our third sector 
and communities as part of our joint response 
to the pandemic, new arrangements will be 
systemised to ensure that we have a shared 
commitment to the Wirral Plan 2026, and an 
effective platform for delivery. 

As well as partnership working during 
Covid-19, Wirral plays a key role within the 
LCR Combined Authority, working together to 
drive the devolution of powers and resources 
to have a real impact on the City Region’s 
communities, in areas such as economic 
development, education and skills, transport, 
employment, culture, digital and housing.

To support delivery of the Wirral Plan, 
we will continue to build on our successful 
partnership working in the Liverpool City 
Region including to:
•Ensure Wirral’s interests are represented.
•Secure significant funding opportunities 
to support Wirral’s Regeneration ambitions 
absolutely key to the borough’s recovery and 
generating income for future sustainability and 
inclusive economic growth.
•Lead Community Wealth Building and 
Inclusive Economic Growth.
•Continue with joint lobbying for additional 
resources to support our local communities.

We are a Borough of inequality, but one of 
great aspirations and strong communities and 
with that, a desire to work with our partners to 
deliver a shared goal.

18

P
age 30



Cross Cutting Strategies
Underpinning and supporting 
our aims and priorities to improve 
the lives of Wirral residents to a 
wider effect.

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26   |   THE PLAN  

1. Wirral Local Plan 2021 – 2037 
Sets out the vision for how the borough will 
be developed over the next 15 years, in line 
with national policy and legislation.

2. Health Inequalities Strategy 
Aimed at improving health outcomes for 
all by a focusing on wider socio-economic 
factors and tackling health inequalities.

3. Healthy Wirral Plan  
The plan places a great emphasis on closer 
working between health and social care, 
helping people to stay healthy and preventing 
people becoming unwell. It will also guide 
implementation for increased use of digital 
technology and integrated working to deliver 
better care to people.

4. Prevention and Early Intervention 
Programme 
Including the Anti-Poverty Strategy, this 
programme will set out the need for a 
whole system approach across council 
and partnerships to meet the needs of our 
residents earlier, in order to deliver better 
outcomes and prevent/avoid demand for 
high-cost statutory services.

5. Community Wealth Building 
Aimed at driving Community Wealth Building 
right across everything we do, to create 
and maintain local wealth and assets for 
everyone.

6. Economic Strategy  
This strategy sets out our economic vision 
for the Borough, as well as a number of 
significant regeneration projects, which will 
help us to achieve our economic goals.

7. Affordable Housing Plan 
There is a need to ensure that the delivery of 
affordable housing continues to be a priority 
aligned to both the local plan process and 
regeneration programme for the borough.  
The plan will be set out outlining our 
needs and opportunities for the delivery of 
affordable housing with our partners.

8. Homelessness Strategy and Rough  
Sleeping Plan 
Sets out the Council’s ambition to identify 
and meet the challenges faced in this area 
and, through partnership working, deliver 
better outcomes for our households at risk 
of homelessness, reduce rough sleeping and 
deliver lasting change to those at risk of, or 
currently homeless in Wirral.

9. Active Travel Strategy 
This strategy will embed active travel 
solutions and local cycling and walking 
infrastructure as part of regeneration projects 
and ambitions.

10. Neighbourhoods Model 
The Covid-19 pandemic has been 
unprecedented in highlighting the importance 
and critical role of our communities and the 
unique ability of our Voluntary, Community 
and Faith sectors to mobilise and respond to 
the humanitarian and social needs of local 
communities. Through this model we will 
build on our community assets and develop 
ways in which our residents, neighbourhoods 
and community sector can be at the heart 
of our new Plan to see things working 
differently in their local communities.

11. Climate Emergency Plan 
The Climate Emergency Plan will highlight 
the actions we will take to tackle the climate 
emergency in our borough, to ensure Wirral 
is a greener, more sustainable place to live, 
work and visit.

12. Digital Strategy 
The Digital Strategy will focus on doing things 
differently and tackling digital exclusion.

13. Community Safety Strategy 
Community partnership work during the 
pandemic has achieved real results. The aim 
is to harness this learning to help build an 
outcome-rich, more inclusive Community 
Safety Strategy. The thematic drivers 
include the following: Anti-Social Behaviour 
(ASB), Crime and Violence Reduction, Hate 
Crime, Modern Slavery, Community Safety, 
Domestic Abuse, Emergency Planning and 
Road Safety.

19

P
age 31



Underpinning Principles
Working to local priorities, 
using local resources to ensure 
Wirral residents receive the 
best possible services.

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26   |   THE PLAN  

Regeneration

No one  
left behind

Inclusive services which recognise 
the different needs of residents, 

families and communities.

Investing in infrastructure and supporting 
businesses to provide a thriving economy 

and opportunities for all.

20

Relationships

Joined 
up design

Prevention

Independence
Enabling individuals, families  

and communities to help 
themselves and each other.

Ensuring our services are 
accessible, person-centric  

and joined up.

Tackling the root cause of inequalities and 
demand on council services and ensuring we 
provide the right support at the right time.

Working with residents, partners, 
businesses and communities for a 

better Wirral.

P
age 32



Underpinning Activity  
Repositioning and reshaping  
our aims and priorities to meet 
the needs of Wirral residents.

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26   |   THE PLAN  

  1   STRATEGIC RECOVERY AND BUILDING 
ON OUR THIRD SECTOR AND COMMUNITY 
RESILENCE
The nature of the pandemic saw the council 
react at speed to implement Government 
policy and local priorities to limit the spread 
of the virus, protect the health of all our 
residents and ensure the most vulnerable in 
our communities are safe and cared for. 

This required a remarkable effort by our 
staff, partners and residents many of whom 
have worked tirelessly and acted with 
compassion to protect, support and care 
for others. Yet the financial, social and wider 
economic impact of the pandemic is the great 
test we now face and the scale of it cannot be 
underestimated. 

As we move from lockdown to a transition 
period, we as a council must commit to 
fundamentally transform and collectively work 
with our partners through the unprecedented 
challenges, while retaining the behaviours and 
principles which are at the core of being Wirral. 
We should take this unique opportunity to 
refresh our priorities and ambitions and move 
into a phase of transformation where we can 
create a fairer and more secure future for all of 
our residents in Wirral.

•We aim to support all communities, 
businesses and public services in Wirral to 
recover following Covid-19. 
•We will have to transform as a council to 
address the significant adverse economic 
impacts of the crisis. 
•We will strive to create a new future through 
harnessing the innovation and improvements 
made during the pandemic.  
•We will build on the strengths and creativity 
of our communities and the partnerships we 
have developed to build a fairer, safer, greener 
and more secure society, with better health 
outcomes and a growing and more sustainable 
local economy.

During 2020 the social, economic, and 
political landscape in the borough significantly 
changed. The pandemic sharply exposed 
existing inequalities. That is why is we 
are committed to building a fairer, more 
prosperous Wirral, where local people can 
get good jobs and achieve their aspirations. 
Community Wealth Building is a key part of 
how we will achieve this. It sets out a strong 
commitment to achieve ambitious growth 
that also brings benefits for local people, 
communities, and businesses; and helps to 
tackle wider social and economic disparities.

That is why it we are putting Community 
Wealth Building at the heart of our emerging 
Strategic Recovery Planning. To do this this 
our Strategic Recovery Plan forms the core 
of the Wirral Plan 2021 - 2026. Our planning 
should consider two key phases: Recovery and 
Renewal.

1.1 Recovery: 
Recovery will focus on the safe re-opening and 
resumption of assets and services, aligned with 
the government roadmap. It will also support 
the recovery of local businesses, schools and 
education, events, and planning for the winter 
period.

1.2. Renewal: 
Renewal will consider new initiatives that will 
provide better services and experiences for our 
communities.  It also aims to provide stronger 
resilience across the seven renewal themes:
•Corporate Organisation
•Children and Families
•Economy
•Neighbourhoods and Communities
•Housing and Homelessness
•Inequalities and Well-being
•Improving High Streets and Coastal Areas

  2   DELIVERING THE LOCAL PLAN
The Council is currently preparing a new Local 
Plan for 2020 to 2037. The Plan will set out 
how the Council will meet the Borough’s 
housing and development needs, and will 
include policies to tackle climate change, and 
protect our natural and built environmental 
assets. The Local Plan’s strategic policies 
will align with the objectives and aims of 
the Wirral Plan and will have at its heart the 
comprehensive regeneration of Birkenhead. 
Local Plan progress:
•Local Plan preparation now at an advanced 
stage - Following Urban First Strategy - No 
Green Belt Release.
•Member engagement on content of the Plan 
underway.
•Final evidence studies now commissioned.
•Key outstanding evidence relates to viability 
of key brownfield sites.

21

P
age 33



22

  3   FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
The Council is striving to deliver the best for 
residents against a background of challenging 
circumstances of uncertainty and additional 
financial pressures. Choices will be available 
and difficult decisions will have to be made 
as part of budget setting and the delivery of 
the Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
and related Plan (MTFP); balancing the impact 
of short-term decisions in order to align to 
the financial sustainability of the Council 
will be key in this process. The Wirral Plan 
needs to ensure that the MTFS and MTFP are 
achievable and capable of managing future 
pressures.

The purpose of the MTFS is to ensure 
that the Council’s available resources are 
prioritised to the areas of highest need to 
ensure, amongst other things, that:
•Vulnerable residents can be supported.
•These resources are aligned to the Wirral 
Plan to enable strategic borough and 
corporate objectives and priorities to be met.
•Value for money is delivered for the services 
we provide.
•Financial sustainability is in place via a 
balanced budget year on year. 

3.1  General Fund Balancing and  
Earmarked Reserves
Maintaining General Fund Balances and 
Earmarked Reserves at an appropriate level 
is part of the Council’s strategic financial 
planning and approach to the management 
of risks it will face in the future. Both need to 
be maintained at sufficient levels to ensure 
that unforeseen financial pressures can be 
met without jeopardising the viability of the 
Council.

The Council’s approach to how it manages 
its reserves are based on Wirral’s local 
circumstances inclusive of the impact of 
Covid-19. The amount held is decided by the 
Council in line with its perceived future local 
demands. This is particularly important in an 
environment where future funding remains 
uncertain.

3.2 General Fund Balances
Wirral Council’s risk-based strategy is 
applied in the context of the current state 
of the economy, other financial risks facing 
the Council and the underlying financial 
assumptions within the MTFS.

The setting and justification of the General 
Fund Balance, at a minimum of £10m for 
2021/22, is part of the MTFS and is consistent 

with previous years. It is crucial the Council 
has sufficient contingency in this reserve to 
maintain financial standing and resilience.  For 
Local Councils there is no statutory minimum 
level of the General Fund Balance and it is for 
each Council to take local circumstances into 
consideration.

The foundations for determining the level 
of General Fund balances are consideration of 
risks, available funding and a risk percentage 
factor. 
 
3.3 Earmarked Reserves
The Council maintains Earmarked Reserves 
that are set aside for specific purposes, some 
through internal decision-making others 
through legal requirements. These reserves 
are set aside by the Council to meet future 
expenditure, such as decisions causing 
anticipated expenditure to be delayed. As 
such, they are made available to be spent on 
specific purposes.
The categories for Earmarked Reserves are:
•Insurance & Taxation - Assessed liabilities 
including potential cost of meeting 
outstanding Insurance Fund claims.
•Business Rates - To cover potential costs of 
appeals and retention rate risk.
•Schools Related - Which can only be used 

by schools and are not available to pay for 
Council services.
•Support Service Activities and Projects - 
Includes Government Grant funded schemes; 
when a grant is received, and the sum of 
money is earmarked for the completion of 
programmes across years.

A robust reserves strategy is a key part 
of the financial resilience of the Council 
and provides the first line of defence in 
underpinning the statutory requirement to 
set an annually balanced budget. Adequate 
reserve levels help to prevent local authorities 
from overcommitting themselves financially, 
mitigate against risk and provide organisational 
stability in the event of unanticipated, 
unforeseen, or emergency spending being 
required. An assessment of the adequacy of 
reserves is a key statutory requirement to be 
undertaken at least annually

3.4 Risk
Risk is an integral part of financial resilience 
and is embedded in all that we do. To enable 
the Council to monitor its financial resilience 
it needs to take an assessment of risk across 
all activities to ensure that where corporate 
risks have been identified that these are being 
mitigated and monitored on a regular basis. 

WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26   |   THE PLAN  

P
age 34



WIRR AL PLAN 2021-26   |   OUR COMMITMENT  

The ambitions described in this report are 
our promise to Wirral residents. 

These are the things we will deliver to make 
this borough a better, fairer, more prosperous 
place for everyone who lives here. 

They are about creating jobs, improving 
services and making public money work 
harder for public benefit and community 
wealth. They’re about making sure Wirral 
residents can continue to live in a place which 
they are proud of, with modern public services 
there to support them. 

In 2025, when this Wirral Plan is complete 
and we reflect on our progress, I am keen 
to be held accountable for delivering the 
priorities set out in this document. 

Now it is time to deliver on our promises.

Our Commitment to Wirral 

Paul Satoor
Chief Executive, Wirral Council

23

P
age 35



P
age 36



 

WIRRAL PLAN 2025 

 

P
age 37



 

WIRRAL PLAN 2025 

 

There is no limit to our ambition for families in Wirral. We put the support in place so people can increase – and achieve – their aspirations. Children are the forefront of every decision we make. 
They are right at the top of our list of priorities, and they will stay there. A family’s history should not and will not impact on the ambition of the child. We are focussed on breaking the cycle of 
poor outcomes and low ambition, raising the aspirations of every child in Wirral – regardless of where they live or their background.  
 
Our job is to encourage, and inspire, and we are relentless in pursuit of that goal. We will enable families to bring up children in safe, happy, and secure environments. Wirral will become a 
great place to grow up, and a great place to work. For children, particularly those experiencing poverty, living in care, or leaving care, we go the extra mile. They are given every possible helping 
hand to lead a successful, fulfilling life.  
 

 SUMMARY PERFORMANCE HEADLINES 

Agile Continuous 
Improvement 

Significantly and continuously improving our offer to 
ensure brighter futures for our children, young 
people, and their families. 
 

 Outlined our improvement plans to ‘Get to Good’ in social care, utilising our much-improved quality assurance 
 Made wellbeing and communication a priority to respond to long-term virtual operations 
 Commenced a SEND Transformation Programme with robust governance and accountability to drive positive culture 

change 
 

Prevention, Early 
Intervention & Breaking 

the Cycle   

Ensuring all children and families in the borough 
receive the right help at the right time to enable them 
and their families to develop resilience to face future 
life challenges independently. 

 Agreed a Council-wide approach to prevention which seeks to break the cycle of poor outcomes 
 Strengthened our early help offer through an alliance with 3rd sector partners  
 Developed a Family Toolbox to provide 24/7 online family support 
 Launched our Vulnerable Adolescents Strategy to protect those susceptible to exploitation 
 152 Fostering enquiries to date this year, 37 higher than the previous year 
 Devised Wirral’s Safer Adolescents Strategy for 2021-23 has been devised by Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership 

(WSCP) in consultation with young residents from around the borough 
 

School Improvement & 
Sufficiency Strategy 

Ensuring that our education provision and offer is fit 
for purpose, inclusive and enables children to achieve 
their full potential. 

 Launched a School Improvement Strategy underpinned by a more robust resource infrastructure  
 Launched the Dolly Parton Imagination Library encouraging love of reading from an early age 
 Commenced our plans to increase provision for children and young people with SEND in mainstream school 

 

 

 

P
age 38



 

WIRRAL PLAN 2025 

 

 

 
 

The latest global scientific evidence makes clear that the way with live our lives is not sustainable. The impacts our lifestyles have on the earth’s life support systems and climate about climate 
change present a deeply worrying picture. The challenge presents a massive opportunity to improve our environment, improve our health and create new jobs in a clean and sustainable 
economy.  
 
Locally we must cut the main climate damaging pollutant, CO2, by three and a half times more each year than we have managed to do so far. We also need to adapt and develop resilience to 
damage that has already been done. We need to extend tree cover and protect habitats and soils. The old, the young and those with existing health problems are most vulnerable to more 
hostile environmental conditions. Acting to stop the situation deteriorating really matters to our families and our communities now. We have traditionally focused on keeping Wirral clean and 
tidy and protecting our cherished local environment. Working for a sustainable borough means going far beyond these concerns. We have a role to lead the way. 

 

 SUMMARY PERFORMANCE HEADLINES 

Drive forward the Climate 
Emergency agenda 

 

Working for a sustainable environment 
that leads the way in its response to the 
environment and climate emergency and 
is environmentally friendly. 

 Council declared an environment and climate emergency in 2019, committing the Council to achieving net carbon neutrality by 2030 
 Over the last year, more than 21,000 trees have been planted around the borough 
 Wirral Council recognised as first Carbon Literate Council in Merseyside 
 Major new campaign to ask people to think differently about short journeys 
 The borough has been recognised as a bee and pollinator champion  
 Council continues to participate in ‘No Mow May’, a national month-long initiative that promotes the welfare of bees, butterflies and the 

wider environment.  
 

Implementation of major 
capital infrastructure 

investment to supports 
Wirral’s Highways & 

Infrastructure  
 
 

Ensure Wirral’s infrastructure is 
sustainable for the future. 

 Highways, streetlights, and roads have improved - 13,500 LED streetlights fitted over last 12 months 
 £6m structural maintenance programme to support our biggest asset our roads including £15m transport schemes programme 
 Completed a multi-million-pound project to change 26,000 streetlights to more energy efficient LED bulbs 
 Implementation of Active Travel schemes working in partnership with Regeneration Directorate and Liverpool Combined Authority 
 53 electric vehicle charging points have been installed 
 

 

P
age 39



 

WIRRAL PLAN 2025 

 

 
For many thousands of our residents, the thing which is most important to them is what they see when they open their front door. They want to see clean streets, 
parks and beaches which are well maintained and attractive. They want to live in a place which is free of anti-social behaviour and crime, and to be able to take an active role in making their 
community a better place to live. Our job is to help make this happen.  
 
The everyday services people want the most – street cleaning, tackling dog-fouling, road maintenance, streetlights, grass cutting – will be delivered to the best possible standard.  
Decisions made which affect people should be made in partnership with those people. Public servants do not always know best, we must be brave enough to ask for and listen to the 
alternative view. This new culture of collaboration and consultation will underpin everything we do. 

 

 SUMMARY PERFORMANCE HEADLINES 

 
Implementation of major capital 

infrastructure investment to 
supports Wirral’s Highways & 

Infrastructure 

Ensure Wirral’s infrastructure is sustainable for the 
future.  

• Introduction of Road Safety initiatives across the borough through Community Safety strategy and working with 
our schools and communities across the borough 

• Implementation of Active Travel schemes working in partnership with regeneration Directorate and Liverpool 
Combined Authority 

 
Community and Leisure strategies  

Creating a sustainable model for the delivery of 
leisure and cultural services in Wirral which 
celebrate the best of Wirral’s assets, environments, 
and communities. Libraries will become 
community hubs for learning and family support. 

 Produced Leisure, Libraries and Sports & Physical Activity Strategies 
 Implementation of delivery phases of Sports & Physical Activity Strategy 
 Led a Community Asset Transfer programme aimed at achieving savings and improving community 

collaboration.  
 Birkenhead Priory secured funding for new digital learning resources 
 Produced an extensive Exhibition & Events Programme 
 

Community Safety  

The overarching aim of the Community Safety 
Strategy is to build safer, stronger, more resilient 
communities in Wirral and reduce the fear of 
crime. 

 Undertake consultation for PSPO as critical implementation tool for the Alley gates and CCTV  
 Installation of circa 60 Alley gates and 30 CCTV cameras 
  creation of a new CCTV control room which is equipped with a state-of-the art digital video management 

system. 
 Delivery of the Safer Streets 1 & 2 projects 
 

 

 

P
age 40



 

WIRRAL PLAN 2025 

 
 

 
 
In Wirral we want all our residents to have a good quality of life. Good health and wellbeing is key to this and achieving that is more than about health services. A good start in life, education, decent work and 
housing, the environment in which we live and strong and supportive relationships all play a part. We’re proud of our reputation that people tell their story once, to one healthcare professional, and they will 
design a personalised care package to meet those needs. 
 
We promote active lifestyles. Where people need extra help to stay healthy, we commission outstanding services to help people live more healthily. Vulnerable people are supported, protected, and inspired. 
We embrace new technologies to help people to live independently, and we engage with communities who do invaluable work to keep their neighbours safe and happy. 

 

 SUMMARY PERFORMANCE HEADLINES 

Covid Outbreak Prevention 
and Management  

Covid Outbreak Prevention and Management – 
Informing the Wirral for ‘living with Covid’ 

 Continuing to support Wirral residents to Live safely with COVID and protect the health of Wirral Communities from 
infectious diseases and environmental hazards 

Healthy Wirral Key 
Improvement Programme 

and drive forward the Health 
Inequalities Strategy 

 

Tackling health inequalities and improving life 
chances. 

 Established the development of the Health & Wellbeing Board Strategy 
 Implementation of delivery phases of Sports & Physical Activity Strategy. 
 Continuous successful delivery of the Wirral ADDER programme 

Delivery of core projects 

Supporting people to live fulfilling lives and have 
good mental health and emotional wellbeing 
whilst reducing the cost of care by having better 
conversations and promoting independence. 

 Delivered a targeted weight management programme  
 Wirral’s Stop Smoking service recognised nationally as a top provider 
 Development of a coordinated and systematic approach to Self-Care activities 
 Wirral Evolutions: Project board and project plan in place t ensure the transition to an in-house delivery function 
 
 

 

 

P
age 41



 

WIRRAL PLAN 2025 

 
 

 
 
Our plans for sustainable economic growth are about creating community wealth. They’re about encouraging inclusive and sustainable growth, where the benefits are felt by every resident without damaging 
the environment on which we all rely. They’re about creating opportunities for local people, and inspiring ambition. Prosperous communities are happier, healthier, and better places to live. People want the 
chance to get a good job, and live in a nice home on a clean, safe street. 
 
Investment into our borough helps creates good jobs for our residents. It helps people improve their skills, improve their prospects, and raise the aspirations of their whole family. It’s about helping everyone in 
the borough to become better off and live more comfortably. The work we do helps support local employers to succeed, to win more business and grow – to attract more inward investment, creating more jobs 
and opportunities for local people.  
 
 

 SUMMARY PERFORMANCE HEADLINES 

  
Local Plan  

Delivering the Local Plan and addressing 
Housing needs. 

 Published Draft Submission Plan (Reg 19) for consultation  

 
Economic Strategy 

Ensuring the council plays an active and 
effective role alongside all partners to shape 
and achieve “good growth” for Wirral; creating 
great places for people to live, work, learn and 
enjoy. 
 

 Continue to signpost and facilitate business resilience through the provision of strategic financial support  
 Delivering the Ways to Work Programme to support residents to access employment opportunities  
 Completed a public consultation to inform the development of Wirral’s Economic Strategy 

 
Birkenhead 2040 Framework 

Ensuring the Council accesses and secures a 
range of funding streams to deliver projects for 
Birkenhead’s regeneration. 

 Approve Birkenhead 2040 and its supporting area-based Neighbourhood Frameworks  
 Achieved borough’s successful Town Deal bid of £25 million of Government funding for Birkenhead, ten milestone 

projects will help transform Birkenhead as part of the wider regeneration programme  
 Continuing to deliver the Future High Streets Programme in Birkenhead and New Ferry.  Preferred developer appointed  
 Peel L&P has appointed construction company Graham to build a catalytic and sustainable development of 500 

apartments within the emerging Northbank neighbourhood at Wirral Waters 

 

P
age 42



 

WIRRAL PLAN 2025 

Regeneration Enabling 
Strategies 

Strategies that enable the delivery of 
regeneration ambitions 

 Completed public consultation on the production of a Wirral Culture and Heritage Strategy  
 Worked with strategic partners to secure funding to improve the energy efficiency of buildings 
 Developed design codes for key regeneration areas, to ensure that all new development is of a consistently high design 

standard  
 Visitor Economy Actions: In partnership with LCR, delivering ‘rediscover Wirral’ campaign 

 
Transport 

Embedding active travel solutions and local 
cycling and walking infrastructure into 
regeneration projects and ambitions.  

 Supporting the LCRCA to develop the business case for the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP), 
segregated strategic cycle route between New Brighton to Birkenhead  

 Building of an online Active Travel Hub 
 Delivered on, and continue to expand the ‘School Streets’ Projects 

 
Housing 

Increase affordable housing provision within the 
Borough through enabling and partnerships 

 332 units completed in between April 2021- March 22  
 714 affordable homes currently being built with 453 estimated to be completed during 22/23 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

WIRRAL PLAN 2026 

WIRRAL PLAN 2022/23 REFRESH 

 
1. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 
 

Wirral’s strategic ambition and priorities for the Borough were brought together in September 

2021 when the Council unanimously agreed the Wirral Plan 2021 - 26. The Plan sets out the 

future vision for the Borough: to create equity for people and place and opportunities for all to 

secure the best possible future for our residents, communities and businesses. Based on what 

people told us matters, the Plan sets out what we will deliver over the next five years.  

The Wirral Plan focuses on reducing inequalities across Wirral as we all work to recover from the 

pandemic, physically, emotionally, financially. We are using this unique point in time to ensure 

Wirral’s recovery is on the right track and aims to create a fairer and more prosperous place for 

people to live and work; making sure we meet and exceed our obligations in responding to the 

Climate Emergency; addressing the cost-of-living crisis; tackling health inequalities and building a 

vibrant Wirral where anyone can achieve their aspirations and share in future successes of the 

borough. 

The Wirral Plan identifies the priorities for the Borough under the five themes: 

 

These overarching themes remain relevant, but against a changing social, economic and 

political landscape, there are some new short-term actions we need to focus on for this year. 

This includes reflecting significant organisational changes taking place within the Council as part 

of our wider change and improvement journey. These are outlined in the Improvement Plan 

which complements and aligns with the Wirral Plan.  

This 1-year refresh of the Wirral Plan sets out some specific themes for the next 12 months 

within a clear framework of economic and social regeneration and neighbourhood delivery: 

 Driving Economic Regeneration: Key to the successful delivery of the Wirral Plan is our bold 

and ambitious regeneration programme. This will generate the inward investment and new 

employment opportunities that will address the disparities within the Borough. Our Local 

Plan sets out this ambition through a brownfield first approach that will drive forward the 

regeneration of Birkenhead and the docklands. This will enable the Council to achieve its 

housing growth targets and provide new employment opportunities in some of our most 

deprived neighbourhoods, whilst protecting the greenbelt in the West of the Borough. 

 

 Enabling Social Regeneration: High levels of deprivation, driven by longstanding economic 

challenges and high levels of worklessness are the primary reasons for Wirral’s poor health 

outcomes. Prioritising our regeneration programme will be essential for directly tackling the 

causes of the health inequalities that divide the East and West of the Borough, with the goal 

to improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the demand on health and care services. 

Securing inward investment into the Borough and will also provide opportunities for training, 

apprenticeships and jobs for young people and school leavers, reducing the need to look 

Brighter 
Futures 

Inclusive 
Economy 

Sustainable 
Environment 

Active and 
Healthy Lives 

Safe & Vibrant 
Communities 

Page 45



 

 

WIRRAL PLAN 2026 

outside the Borough to find employment. Generating jobs and prosperity for the people of 

Wirral in the future, with Community Wealth Building principles at its heart to help build an 

inclusive, fairer economy.  

 

 Transforming our Neighbourhoods: As a Council we will re-focus our spending to ensure it 

directly addresses the challenges which our communities face. To achieve this, we will 

engage with and listen to our communities and work with our partners to develop an 

approach to neighbourhood working that tailors service delivery to the differing needs of our 

communities. 

The refreshed Plan will enable the Council to fulfil its role as the principal driver of economic and 

social change for the whole Borough. With its democratic mandate, the Council provides the 

place leadership which is essential to meeting the challenges and opportunities ahead.  

As place leader, the Council is responsible for harnessing and driving forward working in 

partnership with the wider public, private and third sector partners and local communities. We 

will build on this in the coming months, working together to achieve these joint priorities and 

our Vision for long-term success of the Borough.  

The following section outlines this Vision and what we will do this year to help us achieve it. 

 

2.0 VISION AND STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

The global COVID-19 pandemic has created unprecedented challenges and new experiences for 

everyone. However, whilst the pandemic has affected us all, the burden has not been shared 

equally. The long-standing problems associated with health inequality have endured; vividly 

exposing the impact of these unacceptable differences on people and communities. The 

pandemic has also made these health differences worse, and the heaviest impacts have fallen on 

the lives of people already experiencing health, economic and social inequalities.  

Whilst we have made great progress to support people to live healthier lives in Wirral, health 

inequalities are stubbornly persistent. Prior to COVID-19, Wirral already had some of the poorest 

health outcomes in the country, with high numbers of socially and economically vulnerable 

people and extensive, prevailing health inequalities. Within Wirral the difference in life 

expectancy between those living in the most and least deprived areas is 10.7 years for men and 

11.2 years for women. The impacts on individuals, families, communities, services, and the 

economy are enormous, and the pandemic has aggravated these further. 

Addressing this, and the current cost of living crisis is a key priority for us this year. The 

pandemic has shown us what we can achieve when we all work together and the speed at 

which we can make change happen. 

High levels of deprivation - driven by longstanding economic challenges and high levels of 

worklessness - are the primary reasons for Wirral’s poor health outcomes. Tackling this requires 

a collective and focused effort. 

 

 

Page 46



 

 

WIRRAL PLAN 2026 

Prioritising our Birkenhead Regeneration will be essential for directly tackling the causes of the 

health inequalities that divide the East and West of the Borough, with the goal to improve 

healthy life expectancy and reduce the burden on health and care services. Securing inward 

investment into the Borough will also provide opportunities for training, apprenticeships and 

jobs for young people and school leavers, reducing the need to look outside the Borough to find 

employment.  

The key enabler for us to achieve this is the new Local Plan for the period 2021 to 2037. The Plan 

will set out how the Council will meet the Borough’s housing and development needs, and will 

include policies to tackle climate change, and protect our natural and built environmental assets.  

The Local Plan’s strategic policies align with this Wirral Plan Refresh and will enable the 

comprehensive regeneration of Birkenhead. 

Ensuring that our regeneration plans directly address health inequalities will be a fundamental 

objective and one which will benefit every resident. Although some things that influence our 

health cannot be changed, such as our age and genes, there are many important factors that, 

collectively, through regeneration, we can improve. Issues such as poverty, unemployment, poor 

housing, and unhealthy environments are major contributors to this health gap. This is evidenced 

in Wirral’s Public Health Annual Report 2021 – Embracing Optimism: Living with COVID-19 which 

identifies the following recommendations: 

 Prioritise economic regeneration and a strong local economy 

 Strengthen action to address differences in health outcomes and prevention 

 Increase support for children, young people, and families 

 Safeguard a healthy standard of living for all  

 Residents and partners continue to work together 

Tackling health inequalities makes good economic sense and is a key part of our plan to 

become financially sustainable. This is a once in a generation opportunity to do things 

differently. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



 

 

WIRRAL PLAN 2026 

3.0 KEY PRIORITIES FOR 2022/23 

For 2022-23, there are some specific priorities we will focus on to help achieve the Wirral Plan 

vision. These are summarised below and will be worked up through more detailed delivery plans 

through our committee work programmes. 

 

 

 

 

A summary view of the refreshed Wirral Plan 2022/23 is provided below. This re-states the 

overall plan vision and five thematic priorities. It highlights the core aims against these priorities 

and summarises the key deliverables for 2022/23. Each of the Council’s Policy and Service 

Committees will be responsible for ensuring these activities are effectively planned and delivered 

throughout the year. 

Page 48



 

 

WIRRAL PLAN 2026 

 

Wirral Plan 2022 – 2023 Plan on a Page 

 
 VISION:  

To create equity for people and place and opportunities for all to secure the best possible  
future for our residents, communities, and businesses. 

 
Inclusive 
 Economy 

Active & Healthy 
 Lives 

Brighter 
 Futures 

Sustainable 
Environment 

Safe & Vibrant 
Communities 

Aims 

 Deliver 
regeneration, 
transport, and 
growth ambitions 

 Deliver Local Plan 

 Create community 
wealth/social value. 

 Create jobs and 
support local 
businesses 

 Develop quality, 
affordable, and 
sustainable homes 

 Prevent and relieve 
homelessness 

 Work with partner 
agencies to improve 
mental wellbeing  

 Encourage active 
living 

 Support people to 
live independently 

 Deliver the public 
health services and 
actions to improve 
wider determinants 
of health 

 Tackle health 
inequalities 

 Break the cycle of 
poor outcome 

 Reduce educational 
attainment 
inequalities 

 Raise the 
aspirations of all 
children and young 
people 

 Respond to the 
climate change 
emergency 

 Protect our 
cherished local 
environment 

 Improve street 
cleanliness 

 Support active 
travel networks 

 Work with partner 
agencies to reduce 
crime and tackle 
Anti-social 
behaviour 

 Tackle rough 
sleeping and 
homelessness 

 Deliver everyday 
neighbourhood 
services to the best 
possible standard 

2022/23 Deliverables 
 Submit Local Plan 

for examination 

 Continue the 
delivery of the 
Birkenhead 2040 
Strategy 

 Continue to work 
with Peel to deliver 
the Wirral Waters 
Regeneration area 

 Continue to 
implement the 
regeneration of 
New Ferry 

 Continue to 
improve the quality 
off Wirral’s Housing 
offer 

 Refresh Wirral asset 
management 
strategy 

 Health Protection 
and living with 
Covid 

 Development of 
Wirral Health 
Protection Service 

 Mental Health and 
Wellbeing 
transformation 
programme  

 Healthy Wirral Key 
Improvement 
Programme 

 Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy 

 Rollout the Digital 
Telecare System 

 New Adult Social 
Care Model 

 Develop a 
partnership 
approach to the 
cost-of-living crisis 
 

 Support the 
‘Breaking the Cycle’ 
prevention 
programme  

 Deliver the Wirral 
School 
Improvement 
Strategy 

 Deliver the SEND 
Transformation 
Programme 

 Deliver an improved 
Healthy Child 
Programme 

 Re-establish the 
Council’s Carbon 
Budget and 
reporting 

 Annually review the 
Council’s 
Environment & 
Climate Emergency 
Policy and Action 
Plan 

 Coordinate the 
Climate Emergency 
Action Group  

 Invest in the tree 
planning 
programme and 
plant 21,000 trees 
per year for 10 
years 

 Deliver the Wirral 
Community Safety 
Strategy 2021 – 
2026  

 Review and 
restructure the 
Neighbourhood 
Engagement Team 

 Deliver the Building 
Resilient 
Communities 
programme 

 Implementation of 
Active Travel 
Schemes in 
Partnership with 
the Liverpool City 
Region 

Page 49



 

 

WIRRAL PLAN 2026 

4.0 STRATEGIC DELIVERY FRAMEWORK  

 

To help us achieve our vision and aims, there are a number of key plans and strategies that will 

inform how we deliver the Wirral Plan priorities. These are set out below:  

 

 

 

 

  

Wirral Strategic Delivery Framework  

Cross-Cutting Strategies to Support the Wirral Plan 

Local Plan 2035 Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 

Prevention Framework Neighbourhoods 
Working 

Climate Emergency 
Action Plan 

Stronger Economy Plan Community Safety 
Strategy 

Healthy Wirral Plan 

 

 

Key Underpinning Strategies linked to Wirral Plan Themes 
 

Inclusive 
 Economy 

Active &  
Healthy Lives 

Brighter 
 Futures 

Sustainable 
Environment 

Safe & Vibrant 
Communities 

 

Strategic 
Regeneration 
Framework 

 
Birkenhead 2040 
 
Community 
Wealth Building 
Strategy 

 
 

Leisure & Physical 
Activity Strategy 
 
 

 
 

Schools Sufficiency 
& Assets 
 
Schools 
Improvement 
Strategy 
 
SEND Strategy 
 
Apprenticeship 
Strategy 

 

Cool Wirral 2 
 
Highways 
Infrastructure & 
Assets 
Management 
Strategy 
 
Tree Strategy 

 
 

Community Safety 
Strategy 

 
Domestic Abuse 
Strategy 
 
Libraries Strategy 

 

Page 50



 

 

WIRRAL PLAN 2026 

5.0 PARTNERSHIP WORKING  

 

Partnership has a unique strategic role in shaping Wirral as a place, and Wirral has a strong track 

record of excellent collaboration and partnership working. Since the adoption of the Wirral Plan, 

the Council has been leading discussions with Partners about future joint priorities and how we 

can work together to deliver the Wirral Plan as our collective vision for the Borough. There is a 

strong appetite across the public, private and voluntary sectors for a shared strategic plan and 

partnership that supports collective ambitions, acknowledging that we can only achieve our goals 

by working together. A summary of current thematic partnerships under the Wirral Plan 

priorities is set out below 

 

Thematic Partnerships and Boards 

INCLUSIVE 
ECONOMY 

Regeneration and Growth partnerships with developers, skills providers, 
businesses, and employment support providers to bring forward relevant 
activity in support of our priorities 
 
Employment & Skills sub-group 

 Joint projects in enabling young people and people with significant health 
inequalities to access employment and skills opportunities, with notable 
joint commissions  

 
Housing & Homelessness Strategic Board: 

 Delivery of new homes, increasing affordable housing in the borough, 
preventing, and relieving homelessness and supporting safe and pleasant 
communities 

 Provision of accommodation and support services to help prevent and 
relieve homelessness and individuals to reach their full potential   

 Collaboration and delivery of services to specifically target those sleeping 
rough within the borough  

 
Wirral Partnership Community Wealth Building task group 
 

SAFE & VIBRANT 
COMMUNITIES 

Wirral Community Safety Partnership (Safer Wirral) is made up of local 
agencies who work together to make Wirral safer. They include: 
Police Crime Commissioner’s Office; Merseyside Police; Wirral Clinical 
Commissioning Group; Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service; National 
Probation Service; Merseyside Community Rehabilitation Company; 
Merseytravel 
 
Wirral Domestic Abuse Alliance is a formal partnership between a range of 
statutory authorities and voluntary organisations 
Partners 
 

SUSTAINABLE 
ENVIRONMENT 

The Cool Wirral Partnership co-ordinates local action on climate change. The 
partnership is supported by Wirral Council brings together a diverse range of 
organisations, including: Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust; Community Action Wirral; Energy Projects Plus; Faiths4Change; Forum 
Housing; Magenta Living; Merseyside Fire and Rescue; Merseyside Police; 
Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority; Merseytravel; Wirral 
Environmental Network; Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust. 

Page 51



 

 

WIRRAL PLAN 2026 

BRIGHTER 
FUTURES 

Partnership for Children, Young People & Families 
Collaborative partnerships with multi-disciplinary workers from 
across the borough to jointly deliver eg Prevention Policy and Framework; 
Breaking the Cycle; Safeguarding  
 
Community Matters Partnership was launched in January 2019. The 
Partnership sees Wirral Council’s Early help services work with partners 
including HomeStart, WEB, Fender Community hub, Caritas, WIRED and 
North Birkenhead Development Trust and the Safer Wirral Hub 
 

ACTIVE AND 
HEALTHY LIVES 

Health & Social Care; Health & Wellbeing Board 
A whole systems approach is key to reducing inequalities and improving 
access for underserved groups.  The portfolio of partners and networks is 
wide ranging and includes: Liverpool City Region & Local Economic 
Partnership; Healthy Wirral Partnership; Wirral Health and Care 
Commissioning; NHS Providers; Community, Voluntary and Faith partners; 
Chamber of Commerce Office for Health Improvement and Disparities 
(formerly Public Health England) NHSE/I; Healthwatch; Safeguarding; 
Children’s Services  
 
Wirral is one of the defined places within the Cheshire and Merseyside ICS.   
 
Community Connectors and Social Prescribers have been integral part to play 
in delivering personal care plans 
 
Wirral Dementia Strategy Board brings together NHS, Local Authority and 
Voluntary Sector organisations. Wirral plays a key role in the Liverpool City 
Region Dementia Advisory Group which brings together statutory and 
voluntary organisations to meet with service users, families, and carers 

 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 

In addition to leading the above range of diverse partnerships, Wirral plays a key role within the 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, working together to drive devolution of powers & 

resources to have a real impact on the City Region’s communities specifically in relation to: 

economic development, education and skills, transport, employment, culture, digital and 

housing. Our key focus within the LCR is to: 

 Ensure Wirral’s interests are represented delivery of Wirral Plan is supported. 

 Secure significant funding opportunities to support Wirral’s Regeneration ambitions 

generating income for future sustainability. 

 Lead Community Wealth Building and inclusive economic growth. 

 Continue with joint lobbying to raise the LCR profile and for additional resources to 

support our local communities. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 

 

WIRRAL PLAN 2026 

6.0 CONCLUSION  

 

The last couple of years have brought some unprecedented challenges as we learnt to respond 

to the COVID 19 pandemic and address the changes required for the Council to become a 

financially sustainable and effective organisation. 

One major shift, which has impacted everything that we do has been the rollout of digital 

processes. For employees to successfully work remotely and access vital information for 

performing their roles, technologies such as TEAMS, SharePoint and communicating virtually 

have become essential. This overnight shift has triggered a huge cultural change. 

Flexible working has also had paved the way in terms of workforce transformation. With much of 

our daily work usually carried out on a face-to-face basis, we have had to reconsider how we 

effectively engage with colleagues and communities, from keeping in touch using video 

conferencing to embracing new and innovative ways of working.  

Last, and by no means least, is the need to embrace and grow the multi-agency partnership 

working that we have shaped and strengthened during the ongoing COVID response. Working 

closely with a broader range of partners than usual, including health, housing associations and 

the voluntary and charitable sectors, had led to a better understanding from all partners of what 

the others could do, and the potential to bring together and allocate different sets of resources 

in new ways. 

Underpinning the approach set out in this Plan is the need to find new ways to deliver the best 

outcomes for Wirral residents from significantly reduced resources. To be successful, we will 

continue to build better partnerships and work collaboratively to make a difference in Wirral.  

The Council will also continue to be a community leader by connecting with residents, helping to 

shape opportunities, sharing responsibilities, and always championing Wirral within and outside 

the Borough. 

This Wirral Plan refresh sets out our core priorities in the coming year and the actions that need 

to be taken to deliver against those priorities. We recognise that successful delivery will require 

political collaboration and the collective will and effort of our staff, management team and 

political leaders. We all want the best for Wirral and we are committed to pulling together to 

deliver the vision we have set for the Borough: ‘to create equity for people and place and 

opportunities for all to secure the best possible future for our residents, communities and 

businesses’. 

 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Wirral Plan 2021-26: Proposed Measures 

 

Brighter Futures 

Early Years Foundation Stage Profile - % achieving a good level of development 

The achievement gap between pupils eligible for free school meals and their peers 
achieving a Good Level of Development in the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile  
Early Years Foundation Stage - % of children who are looked after achieving a good level 
of development  
% Achieving expected standard in English reading, English writing, and mathematics at 
Key Stage 2 
% Achievement gap between pupils eligible for free school meals and their peers 
achieving the 'expected standard' in English reading, English writing. and mathematics at 
the end of Key Stage 2  

Average GCSE Progress 8 Score per pupil for Wirral 

GCSE Progress 8 Score for Children Looked After in Wirral 

The gap in progress between disadvantaged pupils and their peers at Key Stage 4 

% Of early years childcare providers rated 'good' or 'outstanding' by Ofsted 

% Of schools rated 'good' or 'outstanding' by Ofsted 

The % of young people aged 16 and 17 who are not in Employment, Education or Training 
(NEET) or categorised as ‘not known’  

Children Looked After rate per 10,000 population  

Child In Need rate per 10,000 population 

Child Protection rate per 10,000 population 

% Of Early Help cases closed with outcomes met 

% Education and Health Care Plans (EHCP) issued within 20 week timescale (Excluding 
Exceptions)  

 

  

Page 55



Inclusive Economy 

Employment Rate in Wirral 

Claimant Count (Job Seekers Allowance and Universal Credit) 

Job Density Rate 

Gross Value Added (GVA) per head of population 

Business Count (overall number of businesses in Wirral) 

Number of new homes completed (net) 

Number of affordable homes 

Number of homeless cases prevented or relieved 

Number of people safer in the home through installation of adaptations 

Major planning decisions within 13 week statutory timescale 

Minor planning decisions within 8 week statutory timescale 

Other planning decisions within 8 week statutory timescale 

 

Sustainable Environment 

Wirral Council Carbon Budget Performance - Emissions (tCO2e) 

Local environmental quality (LEQ) via the street cleansing of litter, detritus, graffiti. (Main 
Gateways and Retail Areas)  

Reuse and Recycling of household waste (%) 

Overall collected general waste (non-recycling) KG per household 

Number of trees planted 

Number of streetlight lanterns replaced with LED 

The number of national quality awards for Wirral's parks, coastal sites, and open spaces: 
Green Flags  

 

 

Page 56



Safe & Pleasant Communities 

Percentage of incidents of repeat domestic abuse (Wirral MARAC cases) 

Reports of Anti-Social Behaviour to Merseyside Police 

Number of crimes recorded by the police 

Violence that causes an injury to an individual victim (not including homicide) recorded 
by the Police 

First-time entrants to the youth justice system  

Young people re-offending (%) 

 

Active & Healthy Lives 

Inequality in life expectancy at birth (Male) 
 

Inequality in life expectancy at birth (Female)  

Inequality in life expectancy at 65 (Male)  

Inequality in life expectancy at 65 (Female)  

Adult Social Care: Number of people supported   

% Of safeguarding investigations completed within 28 days  

% Of adults with a learning disability who live in stable and appropriate accommodation  

Number of people in extra care housing accommodation  

Number of people supported with assistive technology  

Footfall through sites (leisure facilities)  

Library usage - active borrowers  

Active travel - number of people walking (based on Smart Green Sensor system)  

Active Travel - number of people cycling (based on Smart Green Sensor system)  

Active Travel - % who have engaged in active travel at least twice in 29 days (Active Lives 
system)  

 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

 

POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

Monday, 27 June 2022  
 

REPORT TITLE: WIRRAL COUNCIL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REPORT OF: CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report presents Wirral Council’s Improvement Plan for endorsement by Policy and 
Resources Committee. The Improvement Plan, included as Appendix 1, has been 
developed in response to the External Assurance Review commissioned by the Department 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC). The External Assurance Review was 
undertaken as a condition of the Council’s request for exceptional financial support from the 
government in 2020/21 and 2021/22. The development of an Improvement Plan and its 
effective implementation is a condition of the government granting this support for 2021/22.  
 
The Improvement Plan also responds to the report and recommendations arising from the 
Local Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer Challenge in March 2022. The 
Corporate Peer Challenge report is included as Appendix 2 to this report. 
 
The effective implementation of the Council’s Improvement Plan will ensure the Council is 
financially secure with clear strategic priorities, strong leadership and good governance. 
This will mean that the Council is in the best position to provide the place leadership to 
deliver the five themes of the Wirral Plan 2021-26. 
 
The report affects all wards in the borough and is a key decision. 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
The Policy and Resources Committee is requested to endorse the Improvement Plan and 
recommend it to Council for approval. 
  

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



 

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 
 

1.1 The development and implementation of an approved Improvement Plan is a 
condition of the Council’s exceptional financial support from the government. 
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 An early draft of the Improvement Plan was shared with the LGA for comment. 
Officers from the LGA have provided guidance on good practice on improvement 
planning and the Improvement Plan reflects this guidance. 
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 Wirral Council applied to the government for exceptional financial support in 2020/21 
due to financial pressures that were exacerbated by the Covid 19 pandemic. A 
further request for support in 2021/22 was granted in principle subject to the 
outcome of an external assurance review. The review, conducted in summer 2021, 
focussed on the Council’s governance arrangements and financial position. The two 
resulting reports, produced by Ada Burns and CIPFA, were published on 2 
November 2021 along with a ministerial letter inviting the Council to set out how it 
planned to respond to the recommendations in the two reports. 

 
3.2 At its meeting on 30 November 2021, the Policy and Resources Committee accepted 

the contents of the external assurance review reports. Since then, officers and 
Members have undertaken significant work to respond to the recommendations in 
both reports to demonstrate the Council’s commitment to improvement and comply 
with the conditions of the government’s exceptional financial support (capitalisation 
directive). 

 
3.3 An Independent Assurance Panel was appointed by the Chief Executive in 

December 2021. The Panel is made up of external professionals with expertise in 
local government finance, law, governance and assets. The membership and Terms 
of Reference of the Panel can be viewed at the following link: http://s03vs-
intrcm.core.wcent.wirral.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=4944. 

 
3.4 The Panel meets monthly and operates in an advisory capacity, providing support 

and guidance to the Council. It also provides assurance to DLUHC with formal 
reporting twice a year on the progress the Council is making in response to the 
recommendations from the external assurance review. The Panel will have a key 
role overseeing the Council’s delivery of the Improvement Plan to ensure the desired 
outcomes are achieved to the timelines specified. 

 
3.5 An early version of the Improvement Plan was shared with the Panel for comment. 

The feedback provided highlighted the need for: 

 Clear alignment with the Wirral Plan and Council’s Change Programme, 

 A strong narrative of the vision for the organisation we are seeking to create, 

 Clear reference to culture change with defined success criteria, 

 Strong ownership and buy-in of Elected Members. 

 

Page 60

http://s03vs-intrcm.core.wcent.wirral.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=4944
http://s03vs-intrcm.core.wcent.wirral.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=4944


 

 

3.6 This feedback has been taken on board with the Improvement Plan being key to 
ensuring the organisation is financial stable, with a fit for purpose business model 
that enables the Council to provide the place leadership for Wirral partners to 
collectively deliver the Wirral Plan as the vision for Wirral the place. The 
Improvement Plan has been aligned with the Council’s Strategic Change Programme 
and it set out across four distinct themes: 

 Financial Stability 

 Effective Organisation 

 Effective Services 

 Resilient Communities 

 
3.7 In response to one of the recommendations in the Ada Burns report, the Council 

commissioned the LGA to undertake a Corporate Peer Challenge 21-24 March 2022. 
The report and recommendations from the Corporate Peer Challenge are included 
as Appendix 2 to this report.  

 
3.8 The Peer Challenge was facilitated by the LGA and delivered by a panel of 

experienced Councillor and Officer Peers. Held over four days, the process involved 
focussed individual and group sessions with Members, staff (at all levels) and 
external partners and stakeholders. Peer Challenges are improvement focused with 
the scope being defined in advance by the Council working with the LGA. Wirral’s 
Peer Challenge was scoped within the context of the DLUHC External Assurance 
Review and focussed on: 

 Local priorities and outcomes 

 Organisational and place leadership 

 Governance and culture 

 Financial planning and management 

 Capacity for improvement 

3.9 The usual process is for the Council to produce an action plan that directly responds 
to the Corporate Peer Challenge. Given this challenge process was undertaken in 
the context of the DLUHC External Assurance Review, the Improvement Plan 
includes the required activities that directly respond to the recommendations from the 
Corporate Peer Challenge, effectively a single plan for all Council improvement 
activity. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 The Improvement Plan will support the Council in achieving financial stability. 
 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. 
 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 The Improvement Plan will be delivered within existing Council budgets and 

resources. Where dedicated project resources are required to deliver strategic 

Page 61



 

 

change, an approved business case following the five-case model will be developed 
and approved prior to resources being committed.   

 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 Failure to approve an appropriate Improvement Plan would mean that the Council 

would not be meeting the conditions for exceptional financial support as set out by 
DLUHC. This could lead to the capitalisation directive for 2021/22 being rescinded 
that would lead to a budget gap and the need for an emergency budget. 

 
7.2 The DLUHC External Assurance Review and LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 

highlighted a number of areas of risk and required improvement for the Council. The 
Improvement Plan provides a structured and comprehensive response to addressing 
those risks, effectively providing the means to remedy the issues and mitigate the 
risks identified. 
 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 In developing the Improvement Plan, discussions have been held with the Council’s 

Strategic Leadership Team. An early version of the plan was shared with the 
Independent Assurance Panel for comment and feedback. Discussions have also 
been held with officers from the Local Government Association who have provided 
guidance and support on good practice models for Improvement Planning. A 
dedicated session has been held with Group Leaders to provide the opportunity for 
comment and input in advance of the document being finalised.  
 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 

carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity. 

 
9.2 Whilst there are no direct equality implications arising as a result of this report, any 

change projects that require a business case will be subject to an equality impact 
assessment as part of the business case development process. 

 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 There are no direct environment or climate implications arising as a result of this 

report. However, Council improvement initiatives and change projects will be subject 
to climate impact considerations as part of their feasibility or business case 
development. 

 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no direct community wealth implications arising as a result of this report. 

However, the Improvement Plan theme of Resilient Communities will seek to 
harness community wealth outcomes through improved engagement with 
communities to better understand local needs. The Resilient Communities theme 

Page 62



 

 

also seeks to build a more transparent and consistent approach to working in 
partnership with the voluntary, community and faith sector. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Mike Callon 
  (Head of Corporate Office) 
  telephone: 0151 691 8379  
  email: michaelcallon@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Wirral Council Improvement Plan 
Appendix 2 – Wirral Council LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
DLUHC External Assurance Review 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Policy & Resources Committee  
 
 

30 November 2021 

 
 
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Draft Wirral Improvement Plan 

Contents 

1. Preface 
2. What is this Plan for? 
3. Linkages to Other Plans 
4. The Wirral Context 
5. The future Vision for Wirral 
6. Wirral’s Improvement Priorities 
7. Improvement Action Plan 
8. Measures of Success 
9. Delivery Approach 
10. Communication Plan 

Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 65



 

 

1. Preface 

Wirral Council began its improvement journey in 2019 with a new Chief Executive, a new 
Council Plan and an ambition to transform the Borough’s economic fortunes for the benefit 
of local all residents through bold plans for investment and regeneration. However, as with 
all Councils, the pandemic has had a major impact, delaying the implementation of these 
plans and leading to pressures both for the organisation and the communities we serve.  

There have been positives during this time such as the Council providing clear place 
leadership within our local resilience forum and our workforce and communities showing 
tenacity and a desire to stand up to the challenges of the emergency response. However, 
the pandemic has exacerbated the Council’s financial challenges through increased demand, 
lost income and delays in delivering savings.  

For the last decade, we have been focussed on protecting residents from the negative 
impact of our increasing financial pressures by trying to keep all our services going despite 
these challenges. The Council has now reached a point where, trying to maintain what 
we’ve had in the past is undermining those services we are trying to protect. The need for 
financial support from the government to balance our books in 2021 and 2022 has 
highlighted the urgent need to stabilise our finances and bring forward a programme of 
improvement that will enable us to deliver on our ambitions for the Borough. 

We recognise that avoiding difficult decisions in the past has stored up problems that we 
are having to deal with now. As a Council in no overall control since 2019, there is an 
imperative for political groups to work together. We have taken the first step in doing this 
by setting a budget for 2022/23 that removes our budget deficit to establish a strong 
foundation for achieving greater financial stability. 

This Improvement Plan builds on this work and sets out a new vision for the Council we 
need to become to best serve our residents. We recognise that to deliver it will require 
political collaboration and the collective will and effort of our staff, management team and 
political leaders. All of us want the best for Wirral and we are committed to pulling together 
to deliver the vision we have set for the Borough: ‘to create equity for people and place 
and opportunities for all to secure the best possible future for our residents, communities 
and businesses’. 

Signatures:  

Council Leader 

Leader of the Conservative Group 

Leader of the Green Group 

Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group 

Council Chief Executive Officer 

Page 66



 

2. What is this plan for? 

This Plan sets out Wirral’s response to: 

 The External Assurance Review commissioned by the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing & Communities (DLUHC) in summer 2021 incorporating: 

o The Ada Burns External Assurance Review – Governance (September 2021)  
o The CIPFA Local Government Finance Review (November 2021) 

 The Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge (March 2022) 
 The need for the Council to set out a detailed Financial Recovery Plan for 2022 - 25 
 The need for the Council to set a clear vision for the organisation we need to become to 

best serve our local communities. 

The plan has been developed in response to and incorporate the recommendations of the 
External Assurance Review Reports and the LGA Peer Challenge. It has been developed 
following engagement with council staff, chief officers and all political group leaders. It also 
follows advice and guidance provided by Wirral’s Independent Assurance Panel and the LGA 
on how best to plan and deliver on our improvement aspirations. 

The Improvement Plan sets out the vision for the organisation we are seeking to create to 
deliver the outcomes set out in the Wirral Plan to best meet the needs of local residents. 
The plan details how we will secure the Council’s financial stability and how we will develop 
an effective organisation with a clear sense of priorities backed up by strong leadership and 
good governance. It provides a framework and schedule for systematically re-designing our 
services to ensure they are fit-for-purpose, deliver value for money and secure the best 
outcomes for Wirral residents.  

The Plan also sets out how we will harness the support of all partners to work collectively 
around a neighbourhood model of delivery that tailors interventions to best meet local need 
and maximise investment through joint planning and commissioning. 

The Improvement Plan will be realised through the Council’s Strategic Change and 
Improvement Programme which will provide a strong control environment, with clear 
governance and the required resourcing through the Corporate Programme Management 
Office. This will ensure the Plan is delivered to the required timeframe and quality 
requirements. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 67



 

 

3. Linkages to other Plans 

 

 

P
age 68



 

4. The Wirral Context 

3.1 Wirral the Place 

Wirral has a unique sense of place. A peninsula lying between the river Mersey and Dee, it is 
bound by 24 miles of coastline on three sides and is home to beaches, promenades, docklands and 
sites of special scientific interest. Wirral is as diverse as it is distinctive, a place of disparities with 
some of the most deprived communities in the country living alongside some of the most affluent. 
The 2019 Index of Deprivation saw Wirral ranked the 77th most deprived authority (of 317 
authorities) in England. It highlighted just over 35% of the Wirral population (around 115,500 
people) living in areas classified as being in the most deprived 20% of areas in England, with over 
83,000 of those residents living in the 10% most deprived. 

In economic terms, Wirral has struggled since the 1980s in managing its transition from a 
manufacturing economy heavily reliant on its shipbuilding past to a more modern, high tech and 
service-based economy. This has led to a net out-migration from the Borough for work and high 
concentrations of inter-generational worklessness and the social impacts that arise from this.  

These disparities in standards of living have led to significant inequalities in health and wellbeing 
within Wirral. Inequalities in life expectancy at birth sees both male and female residents 
continuing to compare poorly against the England average. There are large gaps in life expectancy 
between wards in the East and West of Wirral with differences of 10.7 years for men and 11.2 
years for women. 

 

3.2 Wirral Council 

Created following local government re-organisation in 1974, Wirral Council is one of the largest 
metropolitan Boroughs in England and currently serves a population of 322,796 (51.6% Female 
48.4% Male). The civic infrastructure of the four former unitary authorities remains across the 
Borough’s district centres highlighting legacy issues in terms of estate rationalisation.  

The Council is divided into 22 wards with 66 Elected Members. Wirral’s politics has traditionally 
been split, with the Council under no overall control for much of the time since it was created 
which reflects the diverse communities represented. From 2012 to 2019, Wirral had a Labour 
majority operating under a Cabinet and Strong Leader model. In 2019 Wirral went to ‘no overall 
control’ and as a result of this elected members agreed to move to a committee system model of 
governance which was introduced from September 2020. Wirral’s Current political split is Labour 
26, Conservative, 24, Greens 9, Liberal Democrat 6, and 1 independents councillor. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



 

5. The Future Vision for Wirral 

Strong Leadership, Vision and Priorities 

Essential to Wirral’s improvement is the need to draw a line under the past and ensure that 
political leaders and chief officers work together as a powerful coalition for change. This will 
enable Wirral to modernise and transform itself as other Councils have had to do, to ensure it is fit 
for purpose to meet the challenges that our communities face. Council strategy and the decisions 
that flow from that need to reflect the long-term and best interests of the borough as a whole. 
This will ensure that we are in the best shape to deliver the Wirral Plan and directly address the 
inequities in living standards that negatively impact on all our residents.  

Financial Stability 

As a Council we recognise that the long-term success of the Borough as an attractive place to live, 
visit and invest is inextricably linked to creating a stable financial framework within which the 
Council can develop its service improvement and investment plans. Securing financial stability is 
our number one priority as this will enable us to invest in the future and drive forward the service 
improvements most needed by our communities. 

Demonstrating Value for Money 

To achieve our financial stability, we will need to ensure that our business model provides 
maximum value for money to ensure our primary focus is on delivering meaningful impact for the 
benefit of all those who live and work in the Borough. This will be achieved by: 

 Effectively managing our finances to afford our future investment plans. 
 Supporting our workforce in a common purpose for the good of the Borough. 
 Maximising the use of technology to create efficiencies that enable us to target those with 

the greatest needs. 
 Optimising our assets to reduce overheads, promote co-location and realise values. 
 Putting the customer first in all our service planning. 
 Enabling people and communities to be as independent and resilient as they can be. 

Providing Place Leadership 

This approach will enable us to fulfil our role as the principal driver of economic and social change 
for Wirral. With our democratic mandate, the Council is best placed to provide the place 
leadership which is essential to meeting the challenges ahead. This will include overseeing the 
Borough’s recovery from the pandemic, securing the maximum value from the new model for 
integrated commissioning of health and care, driving the ambitious plans for regeneration that 
grow the employment and business base of the area and responding to the needs that residents 
articulate to us. 

Delivering the Wirral Plan 

As place leader, we will harness and drive forward Wirral’s strategic partnership with the public, 
private and VCF sectors and local residents. This will be fundamental to the effective delivery of 
the Wirral Plan with its vision ‘to create equity for people and place and opportunities for all to 
secure the best possible future for our residents, communities and businesses’. The Wirral plan 

Page 70



 

identifies the priorities for the Borough under the five themes: 

 

Driving Economic Regeneration 

Key to the successful delivery of the Wirral Plan is our bold and ambitious regeneration 
programme. This will generate the inward investment and new employment opportunities that 
will address the disparities within the Borough. Our Local Plan sets out this ambition through a 
brownfield first approach that will drive forward the regeneration of Birkenhead and the 
docklands. This will enable the Council to achieve its housing growth targets and provide new 
employment opportunities in some of our most deprived neighbourhoods, whilst protecting the 
greenbelt in the West of the Borough. 

Enabling Social Regeneration 

High levels of deprivation, driven by longstanding economic challenges and high levels of 
worklessness are the primary reasons for Wirral’s poor health outcomes. The COVID-19 pandemic 
has exacerbated health inequalities with the greatest impact on those with chronic health 
conditions and those in more deprived communities. Prioritising our regeneration programme will 
be essential for directly tackling the causes of the health inequalities that divide the East and West 
of the Borough, with the goal to improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the burden on health 
and care services. Securing inward investment into the Borough will also provide opportunities for 
training, apprenticeships and jobs for young people and school leavers, reducing the need to look 
outside the Borough to find employment. 

Transforming our Neighbourhoods 

As a Council we will re-focus our spending to ensure it directly addresses the challenges which our 
communities face. To achieve this, we will engage with and listen to our communities and work 
with our partners to commission and plan services better. We will drive forward increased 
partnership collaboration with the public, private, and VCF sectors to develop a model of 
neighbourhood working that tailors service delivery to the differing needs of our communities. 

This approach will improve service integration in ways which place residents at the heart of the 
design process and makes the key link between economic growth and how residents can be 
supported to capture maximum benefits by accessing the full range of health and community 
support services. It will also ensure the combined impact of all spending by the Council and its 
partners reflect local and Borough-wide priorities.  

Overall, the essence of our ambition is to foster pride, both in Wirral as a Council and Wirral as a 
place, for all the people who live and work within it, and to support everyone to achieve their full 
potential. 

 
 
 
 

Brighter 
Futures

Inclusive 
Economy

Sustainable 
Environment

Active and 
Healthy Lives

Safe and 
Vibrant 

Communities

Page 71



 

 
6. Wirral’s Improvement Priorities 

 
 

 

P
age 72



 

This Improvement Plan is set out over 4 distinct themes 

 
6.1 A - Financial Stability (Financial Recovery Plan) 

This theme sets out Wirral’s financial recovery plan, builds on the Council’s new Medium 
Term Financial Strategy and covers key areas for improvement that respond directly to the 
recommendations in the DLUHC external assurance reports. The key areas for focus include: 
medium term financial planning, robust monitoring and assurance in the development and 
achievement of financial savings, management of reserves, improved governance and 
oversight and better management of capital and assets including disposals. 

 

6.2 B - Effective Organisation 

This theme focuses on the Council being well-led with good collaboration and cooperation 
between Political Group Leaders and Chief Officers. This will ensure there is collective 
responsibility for taking the right decisions for the long-term financial stability of the Council 
with improved accountability for Members and officers implementing those decisions. The 
theme will also focus on the Council having clearly defined strategies, plans and priorities 
that have the full support of all key stakeholders. This includes delivery of a new Council 
operating model that ensures the Council has the most efficient and effective organisational 
design and structure with support services centralised as far as possible to maximise Council 
investment in front line services to deliver the best outcomes for Wirral residents.  

 

6.3 C - Effective Services 

This theme will focus on the implementation of a prioritised service review programme, 
aligned to the Council’s MTFP to ensure that financial savings can be realised through 
service transformation. This theme also incorporates the Council’s Digital Transformation 
and Customer Experience Programmes that seek to standardise the Council’s digital 
infrastructure, applications and access as part of an improved customer experience offer. 

 

6.4 D - Resilient Communities 

This theme will oversee a review of the Council’s strategic partnership framework to 
optimise resources and cooperation of public, private and voluntary, community and faith 
sector partners in delivering the Wirral Plan. The theme seeks to improve communication 
and engagement with communities and the VCF sector to develop a Neighbourhood model 
of delivery that better targets resources services to meet locally identified needs. 

 

 

 

Page 73



 

7. Improvement Action Plan 
 
 
 

A – Financial Stability (Financial Recovery Plan) 
1. Strengthen Medium Term Financial Planning 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
1.1 Robust financial planning 
& forecasting 

 MTFS in place to inform financial planning 
 Funding projections and analysis 

 Refresh collection fund model 
 Engage specialist forecasting advice 

 Financial scenario planning 
 3 option model 
 Directorate savings targets 

 Review of pressures 
 Demand forecasting 
 Strengthen evidential base 

 Enterprise Resource Planning Financials roll out 
 

February 2022 
Quarter 2 2022 
 
 
Quarter 2 2022 
 
 
Quarter 1/2 2022 
 
 
Quarter 2/3 2022 

Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 
 
 
Dir. of Resources 
 
 
Dir. of Resources 
 
 
AD Strategic Change 
 

1.2 Improved Member 
financial oversight 

 Primacy of P&R in budget planning process 
 Dedicated finance sub-committee 
 Star Chamber oversight of savings 
 Regular Group Leader briefings 
 All Member briefings 

 

From Nov 2021 
From Nov 2021 
From Jun 2022 
On going 
On going 
 
 

Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 
 

1.3 Better knowledge / 
understanding of Local 
Government Finance 

 Programme of Training for Members 
 P&R – Financial management & responsibilities 

 
24 Nov 2021 
 

Dir. of Resources 
 
 

P
age 74



 

 All Member – Overview of Local Government 
Finance (recorded) – part 1 

 Overview of Local Government Finance – part 2 
(mandatory)  

 Programme of officer training 
 Financial management for budget holders 

30 Nov 2021 
 
23 May 2021 
 
From Sep 2022 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Dir. of Resources 
 

1.4 Improved financial 
assurance 
 

 Implement programme of internal review & assurance 
 Recruit Financial Assurance Manager 
 Re-fresh Corporate Governance Group 
 Compliance with CIPFA financial management code 
 Report Audit findings report to Policy & Resources 

Committee 

From Jan 2022 
Oct 2021 
Apr 2022 
On going 
Quarter 3 2022 
 
 

Dir. of Resources 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 75



 

2. Implement Robust Planning & Monitoring of Savings 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
2.1 Better planning / QA of 
savings  

 Strengthen formulation of business cases 
 Financial assurance and QA 

 Sensitivity analysis 
 

From Nov 2021 
On going 

All Directors 
Dir. of Resources 
 

2.2 Improved financial 
accountability 

 Policy & Resources oversight of service committee 
financial performance 

 Finance sub-Committee 
 Budget monitoring 
 Star Chamber role 

 

From Nov 2021 
 
From Nov 2021 
 

Dir. of Resources 
 
Dir. of Resources 
 

2.3 Timely budget planning   Budget process as part of Committee work programmes 
 Budget workshops 
 23/24 timetable and plan in place 
 Budget consultation 

 

May 2022 
Jun – Aug 2022 
May 2022 
Oct – Nov 2022 

Dir. of Resources 
All Directors 
Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 
 

 
3. Reserves  
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
3.1 Appropriate earmarked 
reserves in place  

 Review of earmarked reserves 
 Reserves Strategy 

 

Q2 (P&R) 2022 
December P&R 

Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 
 

3.2 General fund balance 
replenished to 6% by 2025 

 Policy defined in MTFS 
 4% of net budget in 2022/23 
 5% of net budget in 2023/24 
 6% of net budget in 2024/25 

 

Feb 2022 
March 2023 
March 2024 
March 2025 

Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 
 

 

P
age 76



 

4. Improve Financial Governance & Oversight 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
4.1 Improved assessment / 
reporting of financial 
implications 

 

 Committee Coordination & Oversight Group 
 Section 151 oversight of key decisions 

 

From Apr 2022 
 
On going 

Head of Dem Services 
 
Dir. of Resources 

4.2 Commercial risk exposure 
independently verified and 
reported 

 Review of Council companies and associated risks 
 Review of risks relating to financial investments 
 Outcome reported to ARM / P&R 

 

May – Sep 2022 
May – Sep 2022 
Quarter 3 2022 

Dir. of Resources  
Dir. of Resources  
Dir. of Resources 

 

5. Capital & Assets    
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
5.1 Assets optimised to 
support Council business 
 

 Asset Strategy renewed and implementation Plan 
agreed 

Jun/Jul 2022 Dir. of Regeneration 

5.2 Disposal opportunities 
fully realised  

 CBRE Commissioned  
 Disposals Strategy and programme 

 

From April 2022 
May – Sep 2022 
 

Dir. of Regeneration 
Dir. of Regeneration 

5.3 Capital financing 
optimised 
 

 Regeneration financing and resourcing model in place 
 Regeneration delivery model business case 

development 
 Capitalisation of salaries process and method agreed by 

External Auditor 
 Updated Flexible Use of Capital Receipts policy 
 Review of treasury management and funding sources 
 Review of capital programme  
 

May – Sep 2022 
Apr 22 – Jun 23 
 
June 2022 
 
September 2022 
Jul – Sep 2022 
Jul – Sep 2022 

Dir. of Regeneration 
Dir. of Regeneration 
 
Dir. of Resources 
 
Dir. of Resources  
Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Resources 

 

P
age 77



 

B – Effective Organisation 
1. Strong Political & Officer Leadership and Accountability 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
1.1 Improved support for 
Council Leader and political 
groups 

 New Leader briefing group arrangements 
 Member support 

 Review current arrangements 
 Implement new approach 
 

From May 2022 
 
May – Sep 2022 
From Oct 2022 

Head of Dem Services 
 
Head of Dem Services 
Head of Dem Services 
 

1.2 Improved Member / Chief 
Officer collaboration & 
relationships 
 

 Group Leaders’ Strategy & Planning Sessions  
 Joint Member / Officer development programme 

(including Group Leaders, Committee Chairs and SLT). 
 

Jun 22 – Mar 23 
Sep 22 – Sep 23 

Head of Corporate Office 
AD HR & OD 

1.3 Improved Member 
effectiveness 

 Develop Member Support Steering Group 
 Member portal compliance 
 Member wellbeing Policy 
 Personal safety arrangements 

 Member Induction Programme 
 2022/23 implementation 
 2023/24 Induction Planning 

 Member Development Strategy 2023 - 27 
 Undertake Member skills audit 
 2022/23 training plan delivery 
 Training for Committee Chairs 
 Comprehensive review of member training delivery 

 

 
On going 
From April 2022 
Oct 2022 
 
May – Jun 2022 
By Feb 2023 
 
By Sep 2022 
On going 
May 2022 
By Feb 2023 

Head of Dem Services 
 
 
 
Head of Dem Services 
 
 
Head of Dem Services 
 

1.4 Strong Corporate 
Leadership & Accountability 
 

 LGA Review of Resources, Legal & Assets 
 Leadership Development Programme (People Strategy) 
 SRO training for Chief Officers 

June 2022 
Sep 22 – Sep 23 
Sep 22 – Mar 23 
 

Asst. Dir. HR & OD 
AD HR & OD 
AD HR & OD 
 

P
age 78



 

1.5 Improved Risk 
Management 
 
 

 Independent ARM Members appointed 
 ARM committee improvements 

 Audit & Risk Management Committee Forward Plan 
 All Member Risk Management Training 
 ARM committee training programme 
 Risk Register Reporting to P&R from 2022/23 
 Reporting on Regeneration and Investment risks in line 

with external audit guidance 
 

Jan 2022 
From May 2022 
 
19 Jan 2022 
TBC 
From June 2022 
From June 2022 

Head of Internal Audit 
Head of Internal Audit 
 
Head of Internal Audit 
Head of Internal Audit 
Head of Internal Audit 
Head of Internal Audit 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 79



 

2. Improved Governance & Decision-Making 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
2.1 Streamlined Committee 
System  
 

 Committee system review reported to Standards and 
Constitution Committee 

 Constitution refreshed and reported to Council Annual 
Meeting 
 

13 April 2022 
 
25 May 2022 

Dir Law & Governance 
 
Dir Law & Governance 
 

2.2 Move to Whole Council 
Elections to support greater 
political stability 

 Council decision to move to Whole Council Election 
Scheme 
 

21 March 2022 Dir Law & Governance 
 

2.3 Improved Committee 
Reporting 
 

 Officer Training 
 Report writing 
 Political awareness 
 Presenting reports to Members 

 Committee Coordination & Oversight  
 Reporting quality process 
 Assurance of report quality  

 Forward Planning 
 Review format of forward plan of key decisions 
 Effective agenda management & reporting 
 Review effectiveness of committee forward planning 

 

Mar – Sep 2022 
 
 
 
From Apr 2022 
 
 
 
May – Jun 2022 

Head of Dem Services 
 
 
 
Head of Dem Services 
 
 
 
Head of Dem Services 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 80



 

3. Defined Strategic Plans and Priorities in Place 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
3.1 Business plans reflect 
priorities 

 2022/23 Directorate Plans in place 
 Wirral Plan refreshed with 22/23 priorities 
 Supporting staff engagement & communications plan 
 2023/24 Wirral Plan 4 year refresh timetable developed 
 Corporate Performance Framework in place 
 

May 2022 
July 2022 
Jun – Sep 2022 
Jul – Dec 2022 
Sep 2022 

Head of Corporate Office 
Head of Corporate Office 
Head of Corporate Office 
Head of Corporate Office 
Head of Corporate Office 
 

3.2 Wirral Plan Delivery 
strategies 

 Review Wirral Plan delivery strategies 
 Defined schedule for strategy refresh 

 

Apr – May 2022 
Jun – Sep 2022 

Head of Corporate Office 
Head of Corporate Office 
 

 
4. Optimise Council Operating Model 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
4.1 Member support for 
Strategic Change and new 
operating model 

 P&R committee approval of change programme 
 Defined committee reporting arrangements 
 Regular reporting on progress 

 

December 2021 
June 2022 
From Sep 2022 

AD Strategic Change 
AD HR & OD 
AD HR & OD 
 

4.2 Strategic capability 
defined and in place 

 Operating model principles agreed 
 Project Management Framework & gateway defined 
 Operating model strategies developed: 

 MTFS approved 
 Customer Experience Strategy finalised 
 Digital Strategy 
 Asset Strategy renewed 
 Workforce/people strategy refreshed 

 

September 2021 
June 2022  
 
February 2022 
June 2022 
June 2022 
July 2022 
July 2022 

AD HR & OD 
AD HR & OD 
 
Dir. of Resources 
Dir. of Neighbourhoods 
AD IT & Digital 
Dir. of Regeneration 
AD HR & OD 
 

 
 

P
age 81



 

C – Effective Services 
 
1. Chief Officer Structure 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
1.1 Chief Officer structure 
optimised to support 
corporate priorities 

 LGA DMA review completed 
 Chief Officer model options reviewed 
 Committee approval to preferred option 
 New structure implemented 

 

Jan – May 2022 
Jun – Jul 2022 
September 2022 
Oct – Dec 2022 

AD HR & OD 
AD HR & OD 
AD HR & OD 
AD HR & OD 
 

 
2. Prioritised Service Review Programme 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
2.1 Services re-designed to 
deliver better outcomes and 
efficiencies 

 Service review methodology developed 
 Revenues and Benefits prototype delivered & evaluated 
 Programme prioritisation finalised 
 Programme aligned to MTFP 
 Programme Initiated 

 

Jan – Mar 2022 
Jan – Jun 2022 
 
June 2022 
June 2022 
July 2022 

AD HR & OD 
AD HR & OD 
 
AD HR & OD 
AD HR & OD 
AD HR & OD 
 

 
3. Digital Strategy and Transformation Programme 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
3.1 Digital strategy and 
priorities defined 

 Refreshed Digital Strategy finalised 
 Reported to Policy & Resources Committee 

 

June 2022 
July 2022 

AD IT & Digital 
AD IT & Digital 
 

3.2 Digital opportunities fully 
realised 

 Strategic Partner evaluation 
 Digital Transformation Programme scoped and planned 
 2023/24 quick wins identified and delivered 

 

June 2022 
June – Sep 2022 
Oct 22 – Sep 23 

AD Strategic Change 
AD IT & Digital 
AD IT & Digital 
 

P
age 82



 

D – Resilient Communities 
 
1. Strategic Partnership Framework 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
1.1 Effective strategic partnerships  Strategic partnership arrangements 

refreshed and re-energised 
 Review existing arrangements 
 New model / arrangements agreed by 

SLT 
 Wirral Partnership Summit 
 New arrangements launched 

 
 
Mar – May 2022 
June 2022 
 
October 2022 
October 2022 
 

Dir. of Public Health 

 
2. Voluntary, Community & Faith Sector 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
2.1 Compact with VCF sector  VCF collaboration framework developed 

 Implement new compact / arrangements 
Apr – Sep 2022 
Oct – Dec 2022 

Dir. of Public Health 
Dir. of Public Health 
 

 
3. Working with Communities 
Outcome Actions Dates Lead 
3.1 Developing resilient communities’ 
model  

 Define / agree mandate 
 Scoping and feasibility phase 
 Pilot and testing phase 

 

Jun – Sep 2022 
Sep 22 – Mar 23 
Apr 23 – Mar 24 
 

Dir. of Public Health  
Dir. of Public Health 
Dir. of Public Health 

 

P
age 83



 

8. Measures of success 

Financial Stability (Financial Recovery Plan) 
Priority Measures of Success Products / deliverables 
Strengthen 
Medium Term 
Financial Planning 

 Balanced Medium Term Financial Plan 
 Financial context understood by 

Members and officers 
 Member ownership of budget 

decisions 
 Improved committee accountability 

for budget management 
 Directorate finance managed within 

budgets 
 

 Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 

 Medium Term Financial 
Plan 

 Finance sub-committee 
 External Audit reported to 

Policy & Resources 
committee 

 ERP Financials system  

Implement Robust 
Planning & 
Monitoring of 
Savings 

 Improved savings delivery 
performance 

 Policy & Resources committee holding 
Service Committee chairs to account 

 Policy committees owning service 
change and transformation 

 Proposed savings consulted on in 
advance of budget Council 

 

 Revised savings business 
case 

 Service committee budget 
workshops 

 Finance Sub-Committee 
 

Reserves  Reserves quality assured / verified 
 4% of net budget achieved in 2022/23 
 5% of net budget achieved in 2023/24 
 6% of net budget achieved in 2024/25 
 

 

Improve Financial 
Governance & 
Oversight 

 Transparency and consistency of 
decision-making  

 Member awareness and 
understanding on Council risks / 
liabilities 

 

Capital & Assets  Asset base reduced & modernised 
 Asset running costs reduced 
 Reduced CO2 consumption 
 Capital receipts maximised to support 

financial planning 
 

 Asset Management 
Strategy 

 Disposals Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 84



 

 

 

Effective Organisation 
Priority Measures of Success Products / deliverables 
Strong Political & 
Officer Leadership 
and Accountability 

 Council Leader feels better supported 
to deliver their role 

 Member feedback that support needs 
are effectively being met 

 Improved behaviours / relationships 
between Members and officers 

 Improved collaboration and trust 
between Members and officers 

 Member feedback that enquiries are 
being dealt with effectively 

 New Members are clear about their 
roles and responsibilities 

 Members effectively trained to 
undertake their different roles 

 External audit recognition that 
reporting on regeneration / 
investment risks is transparent 

 Regeneration and investment risks 
better understood by Members and 
officers   
 

 Team around the Leader 
model 

 Regular Member / SLT 
focussed strategy and 
planning days 

 New Member Induction 
Programme 

 Member Development 
Strategy 

 Member portal 
 Member wellbeing policy 
 Refreshed Member 

training programme 
 Training for ARM 

committee Members 
 Corporate Risk Register 
 
 

Improved 
Governance & 
Decision-Making 

 Reduction in number of committees 
 Move to Whole Council Election 

Scheme 
 Greater consistency and quality of 

officer reports 
 Reduction in number of reports for 

noting 
 Reduction in number of call-ins 

 

 Refreshed constitution 
 Report template 
 Forward Plan of key 

decisions 
 Committee Coordination & 

Oversight Group 

Defined Strategic 
Plans and 
Priorities in Place 

 Council priorities are clear and 
understood by all stakeholders 

 2022/23 Wirral Plan 
 Delivery Strategies 
 Directorate Plans 
 23-27 Wirral Plan 

timetable 
 Corporate PMF 

Optimise Council 
Operating Model 

 Member support for strategic change  TOM design principles 
 TOM Enabling Strategies 

 
 

 

 

Page 85



 

 

C – Effective Services 
 
Chief Officer 
Structure  

 Chief Officer model supports Council 
priorities 

 New Chief Officer structure 

Prioritised Service 
Review 
Programme 
 

 Robust Business Cases with defined 
benefits 

 Service review programme supports 
the MTFP / financial recovery 

 Service review 
methodology 

 Service review schedule 
 SRO in place and trained 

 
Digital Strategy & 
Transformation 
Programme 

 

 Approved digital strategy in place 
 Strategic partner appointed 
 Approved digital transformation 

programme in place and aligned to 
MTFP 
 

 Digital Strategy 
 Digital Transformation 

Programme Mandate 

 

D – Resilient Communities 
 
Strategic 
Partnership 
Framework 
 

 Partners are engaged in delivering the 
Wirral Plan 

 Improved partnership planning to 
deliver Wirral Plan priorities 

 Strategic Partnership 
Governance Model 

 Wirral Plan partnership 
strategies 
  

Voluntary, 
Community & 
Faith Sector 
 

 VCF sector feels engaged in strategic 
partnerships 

 Improved model for commissioning  
 

 Compact with VCF sector  

Working with 
communities 
 

 Communities feel they are listened to 
 Elected Members as advocates for the 

Council 
 

 Roll out resilient 
communities model 

Page 86



 

9. Delivery Approach 

The Council has developed a governance approach that provides effective oversight of 
Council business and strategic change. This follows good practice in change management by 
separating the roles for running the business and changing the business. The Strategic 
Change and Improvement programme will be business case driven and delivered through 
the Council’s Corporate Programme Management Office (PMO). The Independent 
Assurance Panel set up by Wirral in December 2021 provides an advisory role to the Council. 
It also provides an assurance function for DLUHC that effective progress against the plan is 
being made.  

 

10. Communication Plan 
 

Introduction and delivery of this Improvement Plan will require change, which will succeed 
only where the culture of the organisation supports it, Political and Officer leadership 
champions it and strong proactive communication and engagement steers it. 
 
With a range of stakeholders and varying levels of engagement, a comprehensive 
communication plan will be put in place. Telling the story from the beginning and ensuring 
there is a channel of two-way engagement will not only create a tone that reflects the 
culture we seek across the organisation but will also bring our workforce and partners along 
with us - supporting the process of improvement, actively helping to deliver it, and 
sustaining it long term. 
 
By way of sequencing the roll out of the communication plan, we will start with the “why.” 
This will provide organisational context, demonstrate how improvement will be achieved, 
confirm the expected benefits, and demonstrate to our workforce and partners that we 
have strong leadership and a clear vision to deliver on improvement.  
 
As part of the plan, we will also work to drive workforce ownership for improvement 
through a specific staff engagement strand. By nature, individuals own what they help to 
create – if our employees are not involved in the definition of the problem and the creation 
of the solution they will take no ownership, and the process of improvement will not be 
sustainable.  
 
We will ensure, throughout the improvement journey, that communication and 
engagement remain key, with clear messaging delivered to the right stakeholder, through 
the most appropriate communication channels, at the most appropriate time – setting out 
our rationale, reiterating our priorities and celebrating the achievement of improvement 
implementation milestones. 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Wirral Metropolitan 

Borough Council 
 
Corporate Peer Challenge Report 

 
21-24 March 2022 

 
Feedback report 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89



 

2 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Executive summary: ....................................................................................................... 3 

2. Key recommendations: .................................................................................................. 6 

3. Summary of the peer challenge approach ..................................................................... 9 

4. Feedback ..................................................................................................................... 12 

5. Next steps .................................................................................................................... 28 

 
 
 
  

Page 90

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

3 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Executive summary: 
 

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council (WMBC) is in a challenging place.  The Council needs 

to make significant improvements to address both historic and recent shortcomings, 

including specific challenges in finance, governance, and culture.  This Corporate Peer 

Challenge (CPC) was completed against a backdrop of two external assurance reviews 

commissioned by the Department of Levelling Up, Housing, and Communities (DLUHC) 

and published in November 2021 which highlighted these issues.  The first report, 

completed by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA), focused on 

the finances of the Council, with the second being an independent assessment of the 

Council’s Governance. 

 

These reviews were a condition of the Council’s application for exceptional financial support 

worth £17.2 million through a capitalisation directive for the financial years 2021-22 and 

2022-23.  This funding was required to support the Council in setting a balanced budget in 

2022-2023.  A key contributing factor to the requirement for this financial support was the 

Council’s cultural approach of avoiding difficult decisions and using reserves to offset 

undelivered savings.  In response to the findings of these reports, 27 recommendations 

were put to the Council to take forward.  Whilst the Council has accepted these reports, as 

is to be expected, there remains a significant amount of work to be done over the coming 

years in taking forward these recommendations.  

 

This Corporate Peer Challenge was completed in March 2022.  It is important to note that it 

is not the intention of this review to duplicate previous findings and recommendations which 

have been accepted in full by the Council.  Instead, this report tries to assess the progress 

made by Wirral Council in response and set out further specific considerations to support 

continued improvement in the coming years.  Therefore, reference will be made to specific 

recommendations to illustrate the position of the Council today, or previous findings to act 

as a point of triangulation when appropriate. 

 

To date, the Council has responded positively to the recommendations of the external 

assurance reports.  This reflects the strong and genuine appetite across the Council for 

improvement, with the Peer Team recognising that this is a clear and shared priority for the 

organisation.  The positive response of WMBC to date has included establishing an 

Independent Panel to support with developing, advising, and scrutinising a Financial 

Recovery Plan and wider Strategic Improvement Plan.  The Panel provides regular 

updates, in the form of written reports to full council and is in regular contact with officials 

Page 91

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

4 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

from DLUHC regarding progress. 

 

This Panel has been in place since December 2021 and offers an important oversight to the 

Council’s improvement, as well as bringing legal, finance, and sectoral expertise that will be 

essential to WMBC’s progress.  Working with the Panel, the Council’s progress to date has 

included passing a balanced budget for 2022-2023 and reviewing the structures and 

processes which underpin their Committee System.  Although these are significant 

milestones, the Council, the Independent Panel, and the Peer Team all recognise that there 

is still a lot more to-do.  Whilst the progress to date is encouraging, it is essential that this is 

treated as the start of a long-term journey of improvement with WMBC building on the 

emerging progress to add further pace and rigour to addressing the issues identified.  It will 

be important to this improvement that the Council continues to engage with external support 

positively whilst also demonstrating their ownership of this work, this will naturally include 

the Wirral Improvement and Assurance Panel but should also include the proactive use of 

external audit.    

 

Despite this challenging context, the Peer Team were struck by the level of ambition which 

exists for both the Council and the wider borough, particularly on regeneration, and the 

benefits that this could bring physically, but crucially in supporting outcomes for residents.  

This ambition is underpinned by the significant progress that the Council has made in 

developing a new Local Plan, which is currently at regulation 19 consultation following the 

Council not having had an approved Plan in place since 2000.  The progress made on 

developing the Local Plan is something which the Council is rightly proud off and is a 

significant achievement for WMBC.  This work has been taken forward through clear 

leadership, and the provision of dedicated support and capacity from a range of officers.  

Whilst the regeneration ambition of the Council is laudable, it is important for WMBC to 

recognise that this will not be a solution to the base budget issues they are facing.  Further, 

the delivery of this level of ambition will require careful management, including the 

necessary revenue budget investment to support increased capacity needed, management 

of risk, and consideration of impact on wider services.   

 

The passing of the Council’s 2022-2023 budget is an important milestone for improvement.  

However, there is now a need for complete commitment and prioritisation to ensure delivery 

of the proposals.  This budget includes approximately £18 million of savings, which is 

higher than the level of savings achieved in recent years where reserves have been used to 

mitigate non-delivery.  Delivery of agreed savings should be monitored closely and there 

needs to be continued political support across all groups for the decisions agreed at Budget 

Page 92

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

5 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Council.  Whilst it is natural and healthy that there will be debate, discussion, and 

campaigning on a political level between the groups, it is essential that this is grounded 

within the current financial reality of WMBC and framework of necessary reforms which the 

Council finds itself.  The Peer Team heard examples when Members had, shortly after 

agreeing the budget, challenged decisions included in the budget framework, and the 

detrimental impact that this had on the organisation.   

 

The Peer Team were told by staff and Councillors that behaviours have improved in recent 

years, however further work is still required, to work towards and embed the highest 

possible standards in line with the Council’s Code of Conduct.  The proposed 

implementation of the LGA’s model code of conduct in May 2022 presents the opportunity 

for dedicated training and development on this issue.  It is important that Councillors 

consider the impact of their actions and behaviour on staff, and make sure that this is in-line 

with supporting the Council to be an employer of choice.  Similarly, the Peer Team were 

made aware of some instances of inappropriate behaviour from a small number of officers 

and would encourage these issues to be addressed collectively. 

 

Whilst the 2022-2023 budget presents a balanced position for the Council, it is important to 

note that this is only a one-year plan, and the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 

(MTFS) still reports a financial gap of £17.9 million through to 2025.  The Peer Team 

recognise that this figure could be significantly higher, particularly since the Council has a 

history of financial optimism in budget development.  With this in mind, the Team would 

encourage further work to confirm this gap as a priority.  The current uncertainty 

surrounding local government finance means that there will always be a need for modelling 

and the use of appropriate assumptions to refine and estimate the budget gap.  Therefore, 

the Council needs to understand the likely best- and worst-case scenarios, and the risk 

factors which impact on its assumptions.   

 

In this context, there is a critical need for the progress made through the 2022-2023 budget 

to be maintained for 2023-2024 and future years, recognising that the work to date is just a 

start and that there is ‘no breathing space’ for further difficult budget decisions to be 

deferred.  Within this context of challenging budget decisions, it is important that options are 

worked up and presented to Councillors to support political choices and options to address 

this gap.  There is also a need for the Council to set-out a clear vision that brings together 

the content of their Strategic Improvement Plan, MTFS, and wider ambitions for the 

borough to set both a narrative and framework for strategic decisions. 

 

Page 93

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

6 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

A strong ‘corporate core’ will be essential to taking forward the Council’s ambitions for both 

regeneration and improvement.  The Peer Team noted that corporate services are currently 

fragmented across a number of Directorates which leads to the separation of key functions 

such as Change Management, Finance, and the Council’s Programme Management Office 

creating separate silos across the organisation. The Peer Team recognise that the Council 

is currently considering the structure and alignment of these corporate services.  

 

A central corporate core will support the Council to have increased capacity for corporate 

priorities and will lead to more joined up working at pace.  Moreover, this will also present 

an opportunity to further develop and embed cultural changes which are urgently required, 

including improved sharing of information across Directorates and Committees, as well as 

an increased focus on outcomes and performance.  Delivering wider and sustained change 

in organisational culture requires clear leadership, communications, and time.  It will be 

important that these issues of cultural change are highlighted within the Council’s Strategic 

Improvement Plan as a core theme to ensure that this is prioritised across the organisation.  

 

The Council has been no overall control since 2019.  The current political distribution of 

seats at the Council is Labour 27, Conservative 23, Liberal Democrat six, Green six, two 

Independent Councillors, and two vacant seats.  The political make-up of the Council is 

currently decided on electoral thirds, with 22 seats to be contested in May 2022.  However, 

the Council will be moving to all-out elections from 2023 onwards.  This provides the 

opportunity for increased political stability, with four-yearly election cycles providing a clear 

medium-term political framework.  It is important that the Council maximises this opportunity 

to support longer-term decision making and moving away from the deferral of difficult 

decisions which has existed under the thirds election cycle. 

 

It is in this spirit of opportunity that the Peer Team would encourage the Council to continue 

to look forwards at the work that needs to be completed and the opportunities that exist 

within the Borough.  This will enable WMBC to build on their recent progress, and will avoid 

important energy, effort, and attention being focused on the issues of the past.   

2. Key recommendations: 

The main body of this report contains a range of findings and recommendations relevant to 

WMBC.  Many of these may be easy to implement “quick wins” and practical actions.  

However, the key recommendations below focus on the issues which will be most critical to 

the Council’s improvement, and those which should be prioritised going forward: 

Page 94

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

7 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Develop a clear and collective vision for the future of Wirral Council and the 

Borough:  The Council revised the Wirral Plan (2021-2026) in July 2021 setting out the 

priorities for the Council for the coming years in a post-Covid context.  However, the 

subsequent publication of assurance reports has changed the context of the Council.  

Therefore, there is a need for WMBC to articulate a vision and priorities that brings 

together the Council’s budget, Strategic Improvement Plan, organisational structure, 

culture, regeneration ambitions, and relationship with partners into a single narrative and 

framework.   

2. Develop a golden thread which cuts across tiers of the organisation regarding 

this vision: There is need to further develop the golden thread associated with this 

vision into Service Plans, Team Plans, and staff appraisals (known locally as “check 

ins”).  This will support with the identification of SMART outcomes, and for staff across 

the organisation to understand the contribution that their teams and roles can make 

towards them.   

3. Review the resources, capacity and capability required to support the Council’s 

Regeneration ambitions: The Peer Team recognise the exciting opportunities that 

exist within the borough through regeneration.  However, WMBC need to assure itself 

that it has the appropriate skills and resources across the organisation to deliver on its 

scale of ambition.  This includes particular focus on the finance support required to 

support delivery and manage risk on the Council’s behalf as a ‘client function’.  It is also 

essential that the Council maximises the opportunities to improve outcomes for 

residents through this work, making sure that this is not just viewed as ‘physical 

regeneration’. 

4. Realign the Council’s Corporate Core to support financial transformation and 

wider improvement: A strong corporate core is essential to coordinating, managing, 

and monitoring, the Council’s financial recovery.  This core is currently dispersed across 

a number of Directorates, and the Council should look to bring this resource into a 

centralised Team as far as possible.  The Council needs to consider the most 

appropriate place for this to sit in the organisation, ensuring that it is aligned to 

delivering the Council’s Strategic Improvement Plan and financial recovery, but does not 

act to dilute the attention required of statutory officers. 

5. Foster a culture of rigorous and constructive challenge within the organisation: A 

key feature of successful organisations is robust internal challenge.  This is essential in 

the development of saving proposals, regeneration propositions, and policy 

implementation.  Wirral needs to ensure that this challenge is a central feature of the 

organisation’s culture, whilst mitigating the risk that challenge escalates into 

inappropriate behaviours.  This can be supported through improved movement of 

Page 95

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

8 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

information across the Council, and better engagement with Councillors through the 

decision-making process (including improved reports). 

6. Develop a corporate approach to the management of reserves: Reserves are 

currently held at a Directorate level which creates challenges of oversight and limits the 

strategic opportunities regarding their use.  The use of earmarked reserves should not 

be seen as an in-year contingency.  The Peer Team feel that reserves should not be 

managed within Directorates and should be managed corporately and maintained at the 

appropriate level.  This centralisation of reserves is essential for sound budget 

management and supports their use strategically rather than reactively.  This work 

needs to link the management of reserves to the Council’s medium term financial 

strategy and the delivery of the existing budget framework. 

7. Proactively engage with external audit to support financial improvements across 

the Council and the management of risk: The delivery of the Council’s Financial 

Recovery and Strategic Improvement Plan should address the statutory 

recommendations from External Audit.  However, it is important that the Council 

engages beyond this to support an improved culture of financial reporting and good 

governance through proactive and regular dialogue on emerging issues. 

8. Work towards political consensus on shared priorities to engender cross-party 

support on key issues: Given WMBC is ‘no overall control’ there is a need for shared 

political approaches on priority issues.  Therefore, to strengthen the stability of decision-

making, the Council should work towards political consensus across parties on issues of 

strategic importance.  This should include an ongoing shared understanding of the 

financial context of the Council. 

9. Implement proposed governance reforms to support increased effectiveness of 

the Committee System: The Council undertook a review of its Committee System in 

December 2021, which included specific recommendations such as reducing the 

number of committees, refining scrutiny, and reviewing schemes of delegation.  The 

improvement of delegations within the Council will both support the pace of decision 

making but will also act to empower Officers across the organisation.  The Council 

needs to implement these reforms at the earliest instance and continue to be live to the 

culture of good governance to support ongoing improvement.   

10. Consider additional capacity to support the political and managerial leadership of 

the Council: Within the framework of no-overall control and the Committee system it is 

essential that the leadership of the Council is well supported to ensure that their 

capacity is protected for strategic issues and to enable the timely movement of 

information across political groups and committees in-line with wider sectoral norms. 

Page 96

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

9 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

11. Provide dedicated space and time for the Council’s Senior Management Team, 

Committee Chairs, and Group Leads to come together: It is important that the 

Council recognises the collective teamwork required across Members and Officers to 

support improvement.  To this end, the Peer Team would recommend that further ‘top-

team development’ work takes place at pace to support key roles both collectively and 

individually.  

12. Further the training and development provided to elected members and 

managers: Whilst this is being delivered currently, and there are plans for this to be 

extended, this needs to move to new levels to include a comprehensive plan for elected 

members covering roles and responsibilities, being a councillor in the 21st century, and 

increased learning from across the sector.  This should be mirrored with a 

comprehensive management development programme, but it is essential that these are 

viewed as ongoing and continuous processes.  

13. Continue to work effectively with the Wirral Improvement Panel, considering the 

development work that is required over the coming two years: Wirral have made 

good progress working with the Improvement and Assurance Panel since December 

2021, and this relationship is central to the Council’s journey.  However, it is important 

that over the coming two-years the Council does not become dependent upon the 

advice and direction of the Panel, and instead fully owns and understands the actions 

required.  This is especially pertinent for ensuring that there is clarity regarding the 

requirements and milestones that the Council must meet to ensure that the Panel has 

confidence that they are committed to and capable of continued improvement without 

external oversight.  

3. Summary of the peer challenge approach 
 

Background and Overview:  

From 2017-2020, the Local Government Association (LGA) delivered 447 Peer Challenges, 

including 182 Corporate Peer Challenges.  This process involves Officer and Councillor 

Peers from across the sector reviewing Council services and functions through constructive 

and respectful challenge.  This process enables experience and expertise to be shared 

across Councils collectively and is a central element of sector-led improvement.  

 

These reviews are designed to be locally led, with Councils requesting that Peer 

Challenges are completed and volunteering to take part.  This includes the LGA working 

with Councils in advance to jointly develop the scope of the review, and key areas of focus.  

In this spirit, the findings and recommendations from Peer Challenges are locally owned, 

with Councils responsible for the development of their own Action Plans in response to 

these reports, and updating staff, partners, and Councillors as appropriate. 

Page 97

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

10 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 
The benefit of Peer Challenges has been independently validated, including the 2020 

evaluation completed by Shared Intelligence.  The feedback which has been received by 

Participating Councils has included 93% of respondents saying that this process has helped 

to provide an external view of the organisation, and 94% stating that the process had 

contributed a positive impact on their relationship with partners.   

The Peer Challenge Team: 

Peer Challenges are delivered by experienced Councillor and Officer Peers who are 

working elsewhere in the local government sector.  The make-up of a Peer Team is 

carefully planned in line with the Council’s requirements and the agreed scope.  Given the 

close political composition of Wirral Council, it was requested that there would be both a 

Labour and Conservative Peer included on the Team. 

 
Within the context of no overall control, it was also proposed that the team would include 

Officer experience familiar with working in this environment.  Finally, the Council requested 

that there was dedicated expertise included on issues of finance, governance, and 

regeneration.  Therefore, the LGA is grateful to the following Peers for providing their time 

and input to support WMBC through this review: 

 

• Jacqui Gedman (Lead Peer): Chief Executive (Kirklees Council). 

• Cllr Sir Steven Houghton: Leader (Barnsley Council). 

• Cllr Mike Wilcox: Conservative Peer (Staffordshire County Council). 

• Carol Culley: Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer (Manchester City Council). 

• Asif Ibrahim: Monitoring Officer (Rochdale Council). 

• Sharon Strutt: Head of Regeneration (London Borough of Redbridge).  

• James Millington: Adviser (Local Government Association).  

• Matt Dodd: Peer Challenge Manager (Local Government Association). 

 
The Peer Challenge Methodology:  

Peer challenges are improvement focused; and it is important to stress that this was not an 

inspection. The process is not designed to provide an in-depth or technical assessment of 

plans, proposals, or specific services.  Instead, the Peer Team used their experience and 

knowledge of local government to reflect on the information presented to them by people 

they met, documents they reviewed, and the culture which they saw. 

 
The Peer Team prepared for this work by reviewing a range of documents and information 

to ensure that they were familiar with the Council, the Borough, the opportunities that exist, 

Page 98

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

11 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

and the challenges that it is facing.  This included a position statement that the Council 

produced specifically for the Peer Challenge, which is designed to encourage self-

assessment, reflection, and dialogue across the organisation.  Alongside this position 

statement, the Council also provided reference documents including (but not limited to) 

copies of key Plans and Strategies, the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, and staff survey 

results. 

 

In conjunction with the documents provided by the Council, the Peer Team also undertook 

an independent assessment of the performance of Council services and wider Council 

finance using publicly available information through L.G. Inform.  The Team also 

commissioned a dedicated financial review of the Council’s financial position, focusing 

specifically on the 2022-2023 budget.   

 
Prior to arriving with the Council, Peer Team Members contacted their equivalents working 

at WMBC, as well as speaking to members of the Wirral Improvement Panel.  These 

meetings were completed to support the Teams’ understanding of the Council, and to the 

development of appropriate areas to explore.  Beyond this, the Team also: 

− Collectively spent around 280 hours to determine our findings (the equivalent of one 

person spending over six weeks in Wirral). 

− Spoke to approximately 145 individuals, including Councillors, Officers, external 

partners, and residents. 

− Completed a short tour to consider some of the key regeneration ambitions in the 

Borough. 

− Watched over 20 hours of public meetings and previous forums and Committees. 

 
Immediate feedback was delivered to the Council on the afternoon of Thursday 24 March, 

at a session which was attended by the Council’s Senior Leadership Team, the Council 

Leader, Deputy Leader, and representatives from other Political Groups.  A copy of these 

slides was immediately provided to the Council to support communication with those who 

took part in the process.  This final report was produced in Spring 2022, with agreement 

that the Peer Team will engage with the Council approximately sixmonths following 

publication to discuss progress against their Action Plan.  

 
The Peer Challenge Scope: The Peer Team considered the following five themes which 

form the core components looked at by all Corporate Peer Challenges that the LGA 

undertake.  These are the areas that are critical to councils’ performance and improvement:   

Page 99

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

12 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Local priorities and outcomes: Are the Council’s priorities clear and informed by the local 

context? Is the Council delivering effectively on its priorities and achieving improved outcomes 

for all its communities?   

 

2. Organizational and place leadership: Does the Council provide effective local leadership? 

Are there good relationships with partner organisations and local communities? 

3. Governance and culture: Are there clear and robust governance arrangements?  Is there a 

culture of respect, challenge, and scrutiny? 

4. Financial planning and management: Do the Council have a grip on its current financial 

position? Does the council have a strategy and a clear plan to address its financial challenges? 

5. Capacity for improvement: Is the organisation able to support delivery of local priorities?  

Does the Council have the capacity to improve? 

In addition to these five themes, the Council asked if the Peer Team could provide further focus, 

findings, and recommendations on their approach to Regeneration, including consideration of the 

capacity required to deliver this programme.   

When developing the scope for this Corporate Peer Challenge it was recognised that the DLUHC 

had recently undertaken external assurance reports focused on the Council’s Governance and 

Finance respectively.  It was agreed that the focus of this Peer Challenge would be to build on 

these findings and recommendations, and consider progress made rather than replicating their key 

findings. 

These reports will be referenced as a source of triangulation or context as appropriate.  However, 

given that the Council has accepted these previous findings and recommendations (published in 

November 2021), this report aims to check progress or provide further specificity on issues already 

identified, or to highlight new proposals for the Council to take forward.   

Finally, this scope was agreed with the Council in advance of the Peer Challenge and was also 

presented to the Wirral Independent Panel to support alignment of work and support.  

4. Feedback: 

4.1 Understanding the local place and priority setting: 
 

As context, Wirral Council was established in 1974 and is one of 36 Metropolitan Authorities 

in the United Kingdom.  The borough is part of the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority alongside five other authorities in Merseyside.  The borough covers approximately 

61 square miles and serves a population of 323,000 residents.  As a peninsula, the Council 

Page 100

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

13 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

shares a border with Cheshire West and Chester to the east, with the remaining boundaries 

marked by the River Mersey, River Dee, and the Irish Sea.  The borough is nearly 13 miles 

long and seven miles across, with the biggest conurbations being Birkenhead and 

Wallasey, and further town settlements in Bromborough, New Brighton, Heswall, Hoylake, 

and West Kirby.  

The Peer Team met with Councillors and Officers who demonstrated extensive knowledge 

about the Wirral and the communities they serve.  The Team was also provided with access 

to several key documents which form a strong evidence base regarding the population, 

needs, and characteristics of the borough.  This information helped the Team to better 

understand the local area and the nature of the social issues that the Council is working to 

address.  These include: 
 

− Wirral is ranked as the 42 most deprived out of 333 authorities based on the Index of 

Multiple Deprivation average score, with a quarter of neighbourhoods in the 10% of 

most deprived lower super output areas nationally.  

− Health inequalities in the borough are illustrated by differences of life expectancy 

between the most affluent and most deprived wards of 10.7 years for men and 11.2 

years for women. 

− The Council ranks 13th nationally for the total number of vacant dwellings (4,955) and 

ninth for the number of long-term vacant properties (2,097).   

− There are an estimated 10,490 children in the borough living in poverty.  

This evidence base is well collated and easy to navigate through the Council’s joint 

strategic needs assessment.  However, some of those that Peer Team engaged with said 

that this information could be better utilised within the Council, particularly on the 

development of specifications and contracts through the Commissioning process, and as an 

evidence base in policy development. Alongside this quantitative information, the Team 

also recognised a depth of qualitative knowledge held by Officers and Councillors, often 

developed through many years of service with the Council and the Council will want to 

make use of this valuable resource.  However, there is also a need for his to be balanced 

with a workforce that understands ‘what good looks like’ and ideas from across the wider 

sector to mitigate the risk of insular approaches.  

The Council also has an effective approach towards resident engagement, with the ‘Have 

your say Wirral’ website being a good tool for consultation and enabling the organisation to 

close feedback loops through the principles of ‘you said, we did’.    Whilst this is a good tool 

Page 101

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

14 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

for engagement and consultation, there are still improvements that could be made on this 

issue, including the Council’s approach towards budget consultation.  The timeline for the 

2022-2023 consultation was too late, creating challenges for implementation, and creating a 

perception that the consultation had limited ability to influence proposals.  

The Council’s wider approach to engagement was praised by local partners, with the Youth 

Parliament, business community, and wider Voluntary and Community Sector organisations 

praising the relationships they have brokered with the Council and the ‘good will’ that they 

have for the organisation.  This included specific praise for the Council’s leadership and 

their willingness to engage with partnership working and approachability when resolving 

issues. 

These partners are keen to further develop their relationship with WMBC, moving beyond 

communication towards more integrated approaches to designing and delivering services.  

For the Council to take this opportunity, it will need to be able set out a clear and concise 

narrative about the organisation’s ambition to support engagement with partners and 

residents about how their individual actions contribute towards these broader goals.  The 

Council appreciates that there is further work required to articulate the wider vision for the 

borough and the Council, that brings together the budget, strategic improvement plan, 

target operating model, and regeneration ambitions into a single narrative and framework.  

This builds on the external Governance Review of the Council which called for “a clear, 

costed and timed plan in order to put the Council on a sustainable footing” by aligning the 

Wirral Plan, Medium-Term Financial Plan, and Target operating model.  

The Council’s overarching strategy is currently the Wirral Plan which is well recognised and 

understood within the organisation.  This Plan was developed in 2020 and was refreshed in 

2021 to reflect the Council’s post-Covid context.  However, the Peer Team heard that 

partners felt more engaged in the development of the original draft than the refresh and 

would welcome more input on future iterations.  Whilst there is a good understanding of the 

Wirral Plan within the Council there is more work that could be done to set out the 

contribution of Services, Teams, and individuals.  Therefore, there is need to further 

develop the golden thread associated with this vision into Service Plans, Team Plans and 

staff appraisals (which are known locally as “check ins”).   

This development of vision that brings these strands together is important to the Council to 

ensure that its priorities are well articulated, and to support partners and staff to better 

understand the contribution that their roles can make to it.  This will also be important in 

terms of creating a framework for the decisions that WMBC is making over the coming 

months and years, including those required in the Council’s financial recovery strategy.  

Page 102

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

15 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

This Framework will enable the Council to anchor decisions in a broader context, setting out 

how individual issues contribute towards this wider vision, rather than individual changes 

each being viewed purely as an approach to reducing costs.   

4.2 Organisational and place leadership: 

The Council’s relationships with partners have been essential in the borough’s response to 

managing the Coronavirus pandemic.  Wirral was one of the first affected regions 

nationally, with repatriated nationals from Wuhan being quarantined at Arrowe Park hospital 

in February 2020 ahead of national lockdowns and wider restrictions.  In total, 

approximately 110,000 Wirral residents have had COVID-19, with over 2,500 being 

hospitalised, and over 1,100 losing their lives.  Like other areas, the Council’s response to 

COVID-19 is worthy of both pride and praise.  This included responding to a rapidly 

changing national context, establishing new services at short notice, maintaining the 

provision of core offers, and supporting the successful rollout of the vaccine.  Some of the 

Council’s achievements include: 
 

− Distributing 20,000 emergency food hampers and compiling 13,000 wellbeing call during 

lockdown following an emergency response to food and welfare support.  

− Supporting 2,427 expressions of interest to volunteer with 4,610 tasks completed.   

− Distributing over £50 million of Businesses Support Grants. 

− Enabling 2,306 staff to work from home at short notice, with a further 506 being 

redeployed to support frontline services.  

The Council should also be more willing to promote and champion their successes, both in 

responding to COVID-19, but also relating to wider services.  This will be beneficial to 

supporting morale within the Council, as well as recognising the contribution of wider 

partners in the borough towards the goals of the borough.  

Beyond the Council’s COVID-19 response, the Team were presented with several good 

examples of partnership working.  This included strong relationships with the local Clinical 

Commissioning Group which will be key to the ongoing work required to deliver a 

successful Integrated Care Partnership across Cheshire and Merseyside in 2022.  The 

Team was also presented with examples of shared approaches to service development 

with Voluntary and Community Sector Organisations, as well as shared posts with the local 

Chamber of Commerce.  With this in mind, there is potential and appetite to do more work 

with partners, but this requires clear communications and consistency to continually build 

these relationships.   

Page 103

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

16 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

A specific issue which the Council is looking to work closely with local partners and 

community groups on is community asset transfers.  The Peer Team appreciate that a new 

asset transfer policy was agreed shortly before this Peer Challenge and recognise the 

benefits that this work can bring.  Nevertheless, if community asset transfers are to take 

place, there is a need for them to be aligned to the Council’s wider financial recovery and 

strategic priorities.  Therefore, these transfers require further prioritisation, and 

consideration of the capacity needed to both enable partners to develop robust business 

cases and provide effective corporate engagement.   

Furthermore, WMBC’s approach to Community Asset Transfers also needs to be 

considered against the role and relationship which they wish to build with residents.  The 

Peer Team heard that there was recognition that the Council currently had a ‘traditional’ or 

‘paternalistic’ model of service provision, and that there was an appetite to move towards a 

more enabling and empowering relationship with residents and communities.  The 

challenge of this transition cannot be under-estimated in terms of a different level of 

engagement, and this will need to be linked to wider changes to service provision.  

However, the opportunity also exists to transform services and work differently through new 

approaches with a neighbourhood focus.  This approach will require Councillors to play a 

different role as leaders of place at a local level, built around the principles of the 21st 

Century Councillor. 

The Peer Team praised the collaborative approach to Leadership that has been taken by 

the Leader of the Council, particularly in the context of no overall political control, and 

through the dispersed governance model of the Committee System.  The Leader has 

engaged constructively with other groups across the Council and has worked to foster a 

culture of collective responsibility for the Council’s improvement.  Whilst there will always be 

a need for political debate at the Council, it is important that all political groups recognise 

the parameters for these discussions, including the requirements which have already been 

approved through accepting the recommendations of the DLUHC assurance reports.  

The Peer Team also heard positive feedback for the visibility and approach of the Chief 

Executive in relation to improved communication with staff.  Importantly, staff felt that the 

Chief Executive had contributed towards improvements at the Council in recent years.  The 

return of staff to the workplace following COVID 19 provides an opportunity to build on this 

progress to ensure pace of change and improvement is continued. This will also enable the 

Council’s Senior Leadership Team to collectively come together on issues and improve 

work across existing organisational silos.  

The Council would benefit by creating more space for strategic discussion, considering best 

Page 104

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

17 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

practice and external expertise to support forward planning, and address internal silos.  

This development work should look to include the Council’s Senior Leadership Team, as 

well as Committee Chairs to support the political and managerial leaders to work effectively 

together.  This will provide an opportunity to collectively share information, work through 

critical decision pathways, and raise and manage risk in a collaborative manner. Moreover, 

this space will support the political leadership of the Council to have effective oversight of 

the entire overarching improvement programme.  This will also enable Members to engage 

with constructive challenge away from formal Committee meetings, enabling Committee 

meetings to remain more focused on the key decisions facing the organisation.   

In addition to the increased involvement of backbenchers in decision making through the 

Committee Structure, it is important that there is recognition across the organisation for the 

specific responsibilities, duties, and powers which fall specifically to the Leader of the 

Council.  To this end, the Council should consider the dedicated support and capacity that 

is provided to the Leader, in line with practice in the wider sector enabling their time to be 

best applied to strategic priorities and supporting their engagement across the wider system 

of Committees.   

4.3 Organisational Governance and Culture:  
 

Following a review of Governance in 2019, WMBC voted at their Full Council meeting on 28 

September to move from the Cabinet-Leader model to the Committee System.  This 

transition was completed in September 2020, with a legislative requirement to be in place 

for at least five years.  This was a big undertaking for the council to complete in a short 

space of time and to their credit they achieved this transition in just 12 months (In other 

Councils this change as taken between 18–24 months.  With the scale and pace of this 

transition, as well as consideration that it took place during a pandemic, it is natural that 

there is ongoing work to refine arrangements and further improvement identified in this 

area.  

 

The Council’s Committee System includes seven Policy and Service Committees operating 

beneath Full Council and supported by sub-Committees.  This is more than the sector 

norms for other Councils which operate this System, which often have four or five Policy 

and Service Committees.  The Council also operates further statutory Committees for 

several regulatory and judicial functions, including, Pensions, Licensing, Regulatory 

Services, and Planning.   

 

The Peer Team found that most Councillors felt that this system of governance was more 

Page 105

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

engaging than the previous model.  It was also recognised that this current system was 

more inclusive to smaller political groups, and supported principles of transparency which 

was recognised across groups.  This triangulates with the DLUHC Governance Review, 

“The move to a committee system, implemented in the middle of the pandemic has clearly 

improved Member engagement but poses a further risk to the improvement journey 

because of its immaturity, its over-elaborate design, and the administrative burden its 

placing on Officers.”  These risks were recurring themes during our interviews and focus 

groups with the Council.   

 

This Governance Review set out 13 recommendations for the Council.  The most significant 

included reducing the number of Committees and disbanding the Decision Review 

Committee.  These recommendations also proposed that the LGA review the Council’s 

governance and regeneration through Peer Reviews, which has been completed through 

this Corporate Peer Challenge process. 

 

In November 2021, the Council also commissioned the LGA to further consider the current 

Committee System.  This process involved focus groups with each of the five Political 

Groups led by political peers and culminating in a further ten recommendations.  These 

included empowering the Policy and Resources Committee to lead on delivering, 

monitoring, and amending the Council’s budget framework to avoid this being siloed across 

the organisation.  This review also proposed that Committees have an increased focus on 

financial matters at a committee level, and further training for officers on report writing.   

 

The Council has responded swiftly to these findings and has engaged with the 

Constitutional Committee to take these forwards.  The Peer Team recognised that the 

reduction of Committees from seven to six may represent a missed opportunity for more 

substantial change and reform. Notwithstanding, there is an acknowledgement that 

governance is a continuous process and is not something which will ever be complete or 

resolved.  Therefore, it is important that the Council continues to be live to these issues, 

and engage with Members on iterative improvements required, training and development 

needs, and creates channels for their views to be heard on effectiveness.   

 

It is important that the Council does not treat issues of governance as a solely academic or 

theoretical process, recognising that the technical procedures of the written constitution are 

applied within the cultural norms of the organisation.  Furthermore, governance is not a 

static issue, and there will always be a need for continual reforms and iterative 

improvements that the Council will need to respond to.  To this end, it is important that the 

Page 106

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

19 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Council continues to consider and develop a culture that supports good governance, 

including the ongoing training and development needs for Officers and Members.  Central 

to a culture of good governance is the relationships across the ‘golden triangle’ of statutory 

officers (Chief Executive, Section 151, and Monitoring Officer).  This requires making sure 

that there are regular communications, a shared understanding of risk, and constructive 

challenge on the approaches that are taken to manage these risks on behalf of the 

organisation.  Importantly, these officers need to communicate with one voice and present 

consistent information, advice, and guidance to Councillors and staff regarding these 

issues.  When these relationships are at their most effective, these roles are seen as the 

custodians of good governance and enabling the safe and affordable delivery of Council 

priorities.   

 

Councillors and staff have demonstrated their commitment to both the borough and the 

organisation through their hard work in recent months and years.  This has often been 

illustrated through long working hours, a willingness to respond to emerging issues and the 

commitment shown throughout the pandemic.  This culture of hard work is appreciated 

across the organisation, and this has contributed towards improved relationships between 

Officers and Members, and increased levels of trust compared to the Council’s recent past.  

However, there is a need for the organisation to be mindful of workforce morale and make 

sure that the appropriate support mechanisms are in place across the workforce, and that 

managers are supporting their staff when working in this context.  This process would be 

made easier through a clear golden thread of priorities being visible at the Council, 

supporting staff to better understand the most urgent areas of improvement, and the best 

alignment of effort and resources.  

 

Central to the trust between Officers and Members is the sharing of information within the 

Council.  This is essential to support accurate and informed decision making, but also in 

enabling appropriate political challenge.  Notwithstanding, it is important that improvements 

are made to the quality of reports provided to Councillors, ensuring that they provide 

proportionate levels of information to enable political decisions.  There will always be a 

tension that exists between the length of reports and the volume of information which can 

be included.  But currently, the excessive length of these reports makes them harder to 

navigate, this requires officers to become more comfortable to append supplementary 

information, or to hold it on file for reference.  It will further slow-down the pace of key 

decisions if the default approach of reports is to include unnecessary background and 

reference details.  More importantly, there is a need for these reports to be more candid in 

the issues which are being presented to Councillors to enable them to discuss the most 

Page 107

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

20 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

pertinent points.  This issue was also noted in the Governance Review of the Council which 

highlighted “somewhat disingenuous drafting” in some committee reports and must be 

addressed at pace. 

 

Moreover, it is important the officers across the Council recognise that the production of 

reports is only part of the process in engaging Councillors in decision making.  Given the 

extensive number of meetings which are held through the committee system, there is an 

understandable temptation for all engagement to happen through these forums.  However, 

instead these meetings should be viewed as the end of a process, with further work 

required to engage with Committee Chairs and Deputies earlier in the Forward Plan to 

discuss emerging options, political views, progress made, and draft reports.  This will help 

to ensure that Committee meetings run smoothly and reduce the risk of surprises emerging 

during the meeting themselves.  During these meetings, there is also an opportunity for 

officers to play a more active role in supporting political discussion and the content of 

reports to support informed debate.   

 

The Peer Team heard from staff and partners regarding the impact of Member decisions 

and behaviours on the culture of the organisation.  This includes the understandable 

frustration when decisions are reversed at short notice, particularly those that are linked to 

delivering the Council’s budget or are challenged at a committee level following previous 

discussion at Full Council.  It is important that the primacy of decision making on these 

issues is understood and recognised to avoid this frustration, but to also manage the time 

and energy of political debates into the most appropriate channels.  Finally, Councillors 

need to consider and understand the impact their behaviours on the operation of the 

organisation, the staff they work with, and the Council’s reputation, calling out others when 

the highest standards are not met.     

The Peer Team heard that there is an improving performance culture at the Council.  This 

was reflected in the meeting of the Council’s Senior Leadership Team which was observed 

during our time on site.  However, the Team are keen to feedback that whilst this gathering 

and reporting of key management information is an important first step in embedding a 

performance culture, further work is required to refine and tailor how this information is used 

most effectively and proportionality for the Council.  Wirral would benefit by bringing this 

information into one place for regular public reporting (such as the Policy and Resources 

Committee) to enable strategic conversations regarding priority outcomes and reducing the 

risk of different levels of information being reported at committee level.  The Council will 

need to consider what is an appropriate suite of indicators to support this reporting and the 

Page 108

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

21 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

development of appropriate targets for these measures based on current performance.  

4.4 Financial planning and management: 

Of the challenges which are facing Wirral Council, the most significant and urgent are those 

relating to the Council’s finances.  The Council’s application for exceptional financial 

support for 2020-2021 and 2021-2022 was originally for £63 million which it felt was 

required to set a legally balanced budget and avoid issuing a Section 114 notice.  In time, 

the size of the request for capitalisation has reduced significantly, largely due to additional 

tranches of government funding relating to adult social care as well as test and trace 

obligations.  With £6.5 million approved for 2020-2021, and a further request of £10.7 

million made for 2021-2022 currently being considered.  Further to the request for 

capitalisation, the Council is currently charging £12 million of the Council’s revenue budget 

to its capital programme.  These figures should be considered in the context of a Net 

Revenue Expenditure of £331 million.  

The financial pressures facing the Council have, as with other Councils been exacerbated 

by COVID-19 but cannot be attributed purely to the impact of the pandemic.  This was 

highlighted in the CIPFA assurance report in November 2021 which highlighted that 

General Fund Reserves had reduced from 8% in March 2018 to 3.3% by March 2022, 

reducing the Council’s ability to navigate unexpected events with General Fund Reserves 

now being £10.7 million.  The Peer Team recognise that reserves of the Council are 

currently held by Directorates and have often been used at a Directorate level as an in-year 

contingency.  It is the strong belief of the Team that these reserves should be managed 

corporately to support their strategic use, and to minimise the use of reserves to address in-

year issues.   

The Peer Team’s findings concur with the CIPFA assurance reports regarding the issues 

which have contributed to the Council’s financial context, including an unwillingness of the 

Council to take difficult decisions.  This has been enabled through a mixture of political 

differences making it difficult to develop consensus on approaches, and the lack of a 

realistic and viable financial strategy.  The CIPFA report also presents a detailed analysis of 

the Council’s current position and highlights key issues including lack of clarity within the 

Council’s MTFS, the use of optimistic assumptions for financial planning, and a cultural 

disconnect from the scale of the challenge facing the Council.  The report also included ten 

recommendations to set out the actions which the Council should take to improve financial 

resilience. 

The Council has made progress in responding to these recommendations, most notably 

Page 109

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

22 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

through passing an approved and balanced budget for 2022-2023.  This budget includes a 

saving programme of £18.3 million, within which there is a prudent £3 million contingency 

for part-year effect.  Passing this budget is an important milestone and illustrates an 

improving recognition for the Council’s financial context.  

The Peer Team are keen to stress that passing the 2022-2023 budget is just the first step in 

the Council’s financial recovery, and it is essential that this progress is now maintained with 

attention moving to the delivery of these savings.  This is especially pertinent given the 

recent under delivery of savings, including £12.4 million which was not achieved in 2019-

2020 for the last full financial year before COVID-19.  This will require an increased 

organisational focus on budget delivery and the use of regular reporting to identify potential 

delays and support mitigating actions at the earliest possible instance.   

The recommendation from CIPFA called for the Council to update their MTFS so that it 

provides a realistic assessment of the financial challenges facing the Council.  The Peer 

Team recognise that the work to-date completed by the Council has rightly focused on the 

robustness and appropriateness of the 2022-2023 budget.  Whilst this is an important first-

step, the Council must recognise that the work to-date does not address their core budget 

issues.  The recommendations put to the Council on future sustainability and wider reforms 

to their MTFS remain outstanding, including the use of sensitivity models, risk-based 

approaches to delivery of savings proposals, and understanding the wider changes 

required to reshape services.  Central to the wider revisions to the MTFS is a need for the 

Council to ensure that the forecasting of future resources, income generation and costs is 

accurate and robust, and that future incomes are not included in budget planning until there 

is confidence that they are secured.  This includes considering capital and revenue budgets 

alongside the Councils balance sheet to make sure that the MTFS is built on solid 

foundations with regards to delivering identified savings for 2022-2023, and an accurate 

understanding of their resource base.   

Therefore, it is important that further work is completed to identify further savings for 

beyond 2022, engaging Councillors as appropriate in these plans, and ensuring that they 

collectively address any revised budget gap.  This includes a need for the budget strategy 

for 2023-2024 to be brought forward as much as possible.  The Peer Team believe that 

urgent work is required by the Council to better understand the 2023-2024 budget gap 

which is currently forecast at £8 million.  Whilst it is not the job of the Team to quantify this 

gap, if was felt that this is likely to be significantly higher than the Council has currently 

forecast.  Furthermore, this gap is also subject to the same risks which are facing the wider 

sector, including immediate challenges created by energy costs, pay settlements, as well as 

policy changes such as the cost of care cap.  Central to this work, is the importance of the 

Page 110

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

23 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Council having a robust understanding of their current and forecast resource base, 

including council tax and business rates.  This will require improved financial reporting and 

communication as the required foundations for further work in this area.   

Bringing forward the 2023-2024 budget process will also provide the time required for 

proposals to be developed, tested, and consulted on before the 2023 budget date.  This will 

help to ensure that the sequencing issues created by the 2022-2023 consultation are not 

repeated but will also support increased planning, management, and engagement on these 

proposals ahead of the all-out elections of 2023.  It is natural that there will be political 

debate throughout this process, and officers will need to provide space for this.  However, it 

is important that there is shared recognition across all groups of what is realistically 

achievable within for the financial context the Council is working in 

The Peer Team appreciate that the Council is in the process of implementing a new 

financial system (ERP) to update their accountancy processes and practice and replace 

outdated systems.  This is an important priority within the Council, and an opportunity to 

improve financial monitoring and management across the organisation.  With this in mind, 

the Team would highlight the risk that this creates given the need for timely and accurate 

reporting and ensuring that the financial basics are in place to support organisational focus 

on the delivery of 2022-2023 proposals.  The Council is encouraged to assure itself that the 

system and associated controls are fully developed, tested, and supported (including staff 

training) before the system goes live.  It needs to be recognised that the work required to 

develop, test, and transition towards any new system is significant and needs dedicated 

capacity and support ahead of ‘going live’.  This new system presents the opportunity to 

consider and review some of the Council’s existing core processes, making sure that the 

focus of their finance team is in the right areas.   

The Peer Team have highlighted elsewhere that the Council’s regeneration ambitions will 

not address the Council’s financial challenges and creates further risks regarding 

deliverability and security.  Moreover, this approach has also seen the Council move c.£12 

million of revenue costs to their capital programme which creates the risk of detracting from 

long-term investment.  Similarly, the Team recognise that there has been significant 

slippage on the Council’s Capital Programme with £94 million being reprofiled into 2021-

2022, and £68 million into 2022-2023, which creates an immediate challenge of capacity 

given that the programme is frontloaded with 40% of capital delivery scheduled for the first 

two-years, which may be an optimistic assumption.   Alongside the delivery of this 

programme, the Council needs to be clear on the service areas which are capitalised, and 

the impact that this brings to their borrowing capacity and the affordability of future loans.  

Central to these capital issues is the importance of the Council having the right governance 

Page 111

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

24 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

and commercial support in place to continue to support the sustainable delivery of the 

Council’s priorities.  An indicator of success for improvement in this area would be a 

reduction in the use of direct awards.   

Finally, to deliver this level of financial resilience, there is a need for the management of the 

budget to become a shared priority across the Council, across both Members and Officers.  

This requires a better understanding and planning for revenue budgets, capital, and 

balance sheet impact.  The Council will need to review the skills and structure currently in 

its finance team to be assured that there is appropriate capability and capacity.  The Peer 

Team recognise that this team is currently carrying a number of vacancies and temporary 

arrangements, and thought is required about how to attract the right talent and develop 

existing staff in this area.  The delivery of this improvement would be aided by the Council 

engaging with internal and external audit regularly throughout the journey.  This includes 

responding to the concerns which have already been raised through the Section 25 notice1 

of external audit, but also looking to work with external audit pro-actively on emerging 

programmes and approaches.   

4.5 Capacity for improvement: 

The Peer Team were struck by the commitment and appetite for improvement that exists 

across Councillors and Officers of the Council.  It is clear that this is shared across political 

groups, as well as different officer tiers across the Council.  This commitment has 

contributed to the progress that the Council has made, both on priority issues such as the 

development of a new Local Plan, but also in responding to the findings of the DLUHC 

assurance reports.   

Central to delivering the necessary improvement for the Council will be the corporate 

capacity of the Council and the strength of corporate services.  The ‘corporate core’ is 

currently dispersed across a number of Directorates with key elements held separately to 

each other.  This has resulted in the creation of silos, challenges of maintaining oversight, 

which makes it more difficult to make sure that capacity is aligned to priority programmes.  

Therefore, the Council may wish to consider the benefits of bringing these services and 

functions together, as well as making sure that these teams have the capability required to 

deliver what is needed.   Whilst there will be natural benefits to bringing these functions 

together, careful consideration is needed as to the most effective way to do this, and where 

in the organisation they would be held.  The management of these functions would require 

additional oversight, and the peer team recognise there is a need for senior sponsorship 

and focus to be protected to drive improvements within their service areas, and the 

development of foundations for improvement. 

 
1 A notice on the conclusion of external audit of the Council’s accounts  

Page 112

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

25 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Furthermore, the Corporate Core is essential to effectively managing risk across the 

organisation.  This will be central for making sure that the Council is well placed to take 

rectifying or mitigating actions.  This management of risk is often built around the 

relationship between the Council’s Statutory Officers, including the ‘golden triangle’ of Chief 

Executive, Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer.  The Peer Team could not identify a 

dedicated space where these officers came together and would encourage short check-in 

meetings are implemented for this purpose, even if informally.  This will be essential in the 

context in which the Council is working, but also given the pace of change required to 

manage risk and support the safe delivery of the Council’s priorities through effective 

challenge. 

The Council has access to valuable external support through the Independent Assurance 

Panel which will be central to their improvement. The Council has built a constructive and 

positive relationship during the first six months of working with them.  It is important that the 

Council continue to maximise the expertise, scrutiny, and rigour which this process enables 

over the full period of the panel.  This clarity will also support setting out a clear process 

and criteria that will enable the panel to stand down safely in two-years’ time.  This process 

and criteria are needed to support the identification of milestones, to mitigate the risk of 

dependency, and enable the Panel to best report progress to central government.   The 

Council also needs to consider the communications support which is required for the Panel, 

to support Member and Staff understanding of their role, responsibilities, and subsequent 

progress reports.  However, going forward it is important that the Council’s improvement is 

fully owned and understood by Wirral Council, rather than being delivered due to the 

direction of external partners.  

The Peer Team met with several talented staff from across various Directorates of the 

Council who are well placed to support the Strategic Improvement Plan.  These staff will 

benefit from the access to the insight and expertise which is supporting the Council through 

the Independent Assurance Panel as part of their development.  Alongside this transfer of 

knowledge and wider practice in the sector, it is important that there is an extensive 

programme of training and development to underpin capacity for improvement.  This should 

include: 

- A comprehensive member development programme linked to the 2023 all-out elections.  

This presents the chance to better support Councillors through a more structured 

programme of training and development.  This would work through a four-year cycle 

incorporating essential training for all Councillors, as well as tailored content for specific 

roles.   

- Delivery of joint training for both officers and members on the specific of working in a no 

overall control environment, considering the challenges that exist for briefing political 

Page 113

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

26 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

groups, brokering agreements, and member/officer relationships in this space.   

- Further training for elected members focusing on their specific roles, future ambitions, 

and learning from across the sector.  

- Take more time as a ‘top team’, engaging with Committee Chairs, Political Group 

Leaders, and Senior Leadership Team to collectively plan for future issues and support 

the sharing of information across the dispersed Committee system.  

This training will support increased capacity across the organisation but will also have a 

positive impact on the culture of the Council. Achieving an increased workplace presence 

(at an appropriate point) will also have an important impact on service delivery at the 

Council and wider cultural change.  Further thinking and clarity is required around planning 

for ‘life after COVID’ and this needs to be effectively communicated and understood by 

staff.    These considerations are relevant to making sure that the Council is seen as an 

employer of choice and supporting the recruitment and retention of high-quality staff in a 

challenging sector. 

4.6 Regeneration:  

 

One of the historic issues which has faced Wirral Council has been its lack of Local Plan 

which resulted in direction from the Secretary of State regarding the necessary progress 

required to address this issue in January 2019.  Since this point the Council has made 

considerable progress, with Full Council agreeing to move the current draft to Regulation 19 

consultation during the Peer Team’s visit in March 2022.  This progress has been 

supported through an external review of the Council’s planning services which was 

completed by the Planning Advisory Service in July 2019, with progress being reviewed in 

August 2020.  The progress in developing a Local Plan is a significant step forward as it 

moves the Council away from planning decisions being based upon National Planning 

Policy Framework which can only apply English-wide considerations as a previous 

necessity of the organisation in the absence of a Local Plan since 2000.  This revisit 

praised the Council for the ‘gear shift’ and ‘focus’ which had been applied to this issue.  The 

Council’s new Local Plan is built around the principle of a brownfield first approach to 

development and is something which the organisation is rightly proud of.  

 

This progress has contributed towards rightful optimism regarding the potential of 

regeneration in the borough.  This is reflected in the size and scale of the regeneration 

programme, which is one of the largest outside London.  The Council has been successful 

in securing external funds to support this programme including the Town Deal Plan worth 

Page 114

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

27 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

£25 million which has contributed to increased internal and external confidence. 

 

Within the context of this ambition, the Peer Team believe that there is further work to do to 

coalesce and coordinate the Council’s regeneration ambitions into a single place in an 

overarching plan.  The Team were told of the 140 projects that are proposed within the 

borough and would encourage the Council to set-out their collective impact.  This will need 

to be underpinned by a detailed delivery plan which manages interdependencies such as 

sequencing, funding, disposals, and capacity.  There is also a need for this wider 

programme to be aligned to the wider vision and ambitions for the borough as outlined in 

recommendation one of this report.   Also, given the breadth of this programme, the risk 

exists that the Council may not deliver against all funding streams within the required 

timescales, placing further emphasis on the importance of this overarching programme 

plan, and ensuring that it contains appropriate flexibility to be reviewed to respond to 

opportunities and challenges. 

 

Furthermore, the delivery of this level of ambition will require additional capacity to what is 

currently in-place.  If there is true cross-party support for these ambitions, a decision is 

needed regarding the necessary revenue budget investment which is required to provide 

additional capacity to support this programme.  This investment into capacity for 

regeneration will create an additional budget pressure to the Council, and consequently 

may require additional savings to be made elsewhere.  This capacity is not just in 

regeneration, but also in the advice and support provided through procurement, legal, and 

commercial finance which is required to support this programme.  It is important that this is 

not just seen as a revenue budget ask, but a careful assessment of how resources are 

used across the organisation, moving towards a model where this support is drawn down 

through statutory officers, rather than brokered or commissioned separately.   

 

Beyond the dedicated capacity required, it is important that corporate services are 

meaningfully engaged with regeneration initiatives at the earliest instance to support 

refinement through constructive challenge and delivery.  This is something which the Peer 

Team believe the Council need to improve on, hearing a mixed picture regarding the 

current levels of internal challenge which are applied, ranging from important checks and 

balances to risking delivery.  It is important that these relationships are improved, and the 

Council’s Senior Leadership Team can manage this complexity collectively.  

 

The Peer Team were struck by the enthusiasm and appetite across the Council for the 

regeneration opportunities that exist in the borough, and this was brought to life during our 

Page 115

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

28 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

time with the Council with further information being provided on the Wirral Waters 

Programme and the wider 2040 Birkenhead Framework.  The Peer Team were pleased that 

this ambition was clearly a shared priority across political groups and partners which will 

support cross-party support going forward. 

 

However, whilst the Peer Team appreciate these opportunities and the importance of 

regeneration to the long-term future of the borough, it is essential that the Council 

recognises that this will not address any of the Council’s short-term financial issues.  Whilst 

recognising the longer-term benefit this will bring for sustainability, the Peer Team have 

strongly stated that regeneration will have a limited impact on the Council’s immediate 

financial context and will in fact bring further challenges in the immediate future.  Therefore, 

the Peer Team would encourage the Council to treat any financial upside to regeneration as 

a ‘bonus’, rather than a central financial planning assumption.  This is consistent with the 

findings of the CIPFA review. 

 

The Council’s historic approaches to regeneration have been delivered through a joint 

venture which they entered with Muse Developments in 2018 called the Wirral Growth 

Company (WGC).  The CIPFA financial review raised a number of concerns regarding the 

financial due diligence of the company and whether the risks associated were fully 

understood: “We are concerned that the Council does not clearly understand the extend of 

the financial risks associated with its regeneration agenda and the companies it owns.”  

This is also reflected in feedback which the Council has received from external audit 

regarding the deliverability of income targets attached to this area.   

 

With this in mind, it is encouraging that the Council has removed an income of £1.38 million 

target for WGC from their budget, albeit, with this being replaced with salary capitalisation. 

The Peer Team recognise that the Council is currently considering the most appropriate 

delivery vehicle to support these regeneration plans, including the potential for an Urban 

Development Company.  The Team recognise that it would not be appropriate to comment 

on which is the most appropriate vehicle for the Council to implement but would encourage 

that this issue is addressed in the round alongside consideration of issues including 

capacity, budgeting, and sequencing, rather than this being seen as the primary question in 

isolation. 

5. Next steps 
 

Page 116

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

29 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

It is recognised that senior political and managerial leadership will want to consider, 

discuss, and reflect on these findings over the coming weeks. To support transparency, the 

Council is expected to publish this report within six weeks of receiving a final draft. There is 

also an expectation that an action plan is publicly available within eight weeks of the 

report’s publication. 

 

Both the peer team and LGA are keen to build on the relationships formed through the 

Corporate Peer Challenge Revisit. This process includes a six-month check-in holding a 

structured conversation across Peers and the Council to consider progress made against 

these recommendations.   

 

In the meantime, Matthew Dodd, Programme Manager for the North West, is the main 

contact between your authority and the Local Government Association. Matt is available to 

discuss any further support the Council requires and can be contacted by email 

(Matthew.Dodd@local.gov.uk)  or mobile phone (07780 226 852). 

 

 

 

 

Page 117

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:Matthew.Dodd@local.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Wirral Plan Update
	Enc. 1 for Wirral Plan Update
	Enc. 2 for Wirral Plan Update
	Enc. 3 for Wirral Plan Update
	Enc. 4 for Wirral Plan Update

	7 Wirral Council Improvement Plan
	Enc. 1 for Wirral Council Improvement Plan
	Enc. 2 for Wirral Council Improvement Plan




